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I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves issues of first impression concerning 

the use of a stress reducing therapy called EMDR (Eye 

Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing).  EMDR is similar 

in some respects to hypnosis.  The same dangers regarding the 

use of hypnosis on persons who are slated to be witnesses in an 

upcoming criminal trial exist when EMDR is used as a stress 

reducing technique on persons who later testify in court 

proceedings.  Both procedures can generate false memories.  In 

both situations the patient sincerely believes that her memory has 

been enhanced or improved by the therapy.  Because the patient 

believes that her memory has not been contaminated, it is 

extremely difficult to discern whether in fact a false memory has 

been created.   

This Court dealt with the problems raised by hypnosis in 

State v. Martin, 101 Wn.2d 713, 684 P.2d 651 (1984).  There, 

this Court adopted several rules to govern the admissibility of 
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testimony by witnesses who had undergone hypnosis in order to 

recover lost or suppressed memories.   

To the best of Petitioner’s knowledge, prior to this case, 

only one other appellate court has addressed the admissibility of 

testimony by witnesses who had undergone EMDR.  In that case, 

United States v. DWB, 74 M.J. 630, 643 (N-M Ct. Crim. App. 

2015), the Navy-Marine Court of Criminal Appeals held that 

testimony from a witness who has undergone EMDR is 

admissible only when the party seeking to call the witness carries 

the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that 

the EMDR therapy did not cause the generation of a false 

memory.  In DWB the witness had no conscious memory of abuse 

before undergoing EMDR therapy.  Id.  Although there were “no 

military cases and very few civilian cases [that] address[ed] 

EMDR,” the Court recognized that there was “a significant body 

of law addressing the admissibility of memories recovered 

through other psychological processes” including hypnosis.  

DWB at 637.  After analyzing hypnosis cases from other 
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jurisdictions, the D.W.B. Court held the witness’ testimony 

inadmissible.  Id. at 644.    

In Martin, this Court held that the party offering the 

testimony of a hypnotized witness bore the burden of proving by 

a preponderance of the evidence that the witness’ memory was 

not contaminated by the hypnosis therapy.  In this case, the Court 

of Appeals, applying the “actual prejudice” rule of In re Cook,1 

ruled that Donaldson bore the burden of proving “actual 

prejudice” by proving that the witness’ memory was 

contaminated by the EMDR therapy, and that it was more likely 

than not that if the witness’ testimony had been excluded that the 

outcome of the trial would have been different.2     

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Randy Donaldson seeks review of the decision issued 

below.  

 
1 114 Wn.2d 802, 792 P.2d 506 (1990). 
2 App. A-22-23.  
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III. DECISION BELOW 

The Court of Appeals’ unpublished decision and its Order 

Denying Reconsideration are attached as Appendices A & B.  

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals (a) held that the defendant 

bore the burden of proving that it was more likely than not that 

the receipt of EMDR had contaminated the memory of the 

prosecution’s key witness, even though Martin holds that the 

State bears the burden of proving the absence of memory 

contamination; and ignored the holdings of Martin that in order 

to be admissible (b) the State must show that adequate procedural 

safeguards were employed when the proffered witness received 

hypnosis therapy; and (c) the trial judge must make a finding of 

fact that there is strong independent corroboration of the fact that 

the witness’ proffered testimony consists solely of pre-hypnosis 

memory.   
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2. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because 

the Court of Appeals held, contrary to this Court’s decision in 

State v. Sandoval,3 that the Cook “more likely than not” actual 

prejudice rule applies to cases where the appellate court 

simultaneously considers a direct appeal and a personal restraint 

petition pursuant to State v. McFarland4?  

3. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because 

the Court of Appeals held, contrary to this Court’s decision in In 

re Crace5 that the Cook “more likely than not” prejudice rule 

applies to cases where the appellate court is considering a claim 

of ineffective assistance of counsel? 

4. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals failed to apply the harmless 

error rule of Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) to 

Donaldson’s Sixth Amendment claims that he was denied his 

 
3 171 Wn.2d 163, 168-69, 249 P.3d 1015 (2011). 
4 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). 
5 174 Wn.2d 835, 280 P.3d 1102 (2012). 
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rights to cross-examination, effective representation of counsel, 

and the right to present a defense by the trial court’s refusal to 

give defense counsel any time whatsoever to find out what 

EMDR was, what risks of memory contamination it might cause, 

and what safeguards should be employed to ensure that the 

witness’ memory was not altered by it?  

5. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b)(4) because after finding that a photo montage procedure was 

unnecessarily suggestive, the Court of Appeals considered 

“corroborating” evidence unrelated to the witness’ identification 

as grounds for rejection of Donaldson’s due process claim 

contrary to Manson v. Brathwaite?6  

6. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

(b)(4) because contrary to Manson, Neil v. Biggers,7 and State v. 

Derri,8 the Court of Appeals failed to consider the witness’ 

 
6 432 U.S. 98 (1977).  
7 409 U.S. 188 (1972). 
8 199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022). 
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“opportunity to view the criminal at the time of the crime” and 

instead considered the witness’ opportunity to view the 

defendant an hour or so before the crime?      

7. Is review warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and 

13.4(b)(2) because the Court of Appeals held, contrary to 

Chapman, and a slew of decisions rendered by this Court and by 

the Court of Appeals, that the trial prosecutor did not violate 

Petitioner’s Fifth Amendment right to remain silent when he told 

the jury Donaldson’s failure to say “I didn’t do this” showed that 

he was guilty?       

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

A. Facts 

1. One shooter or two?  

Olivia Brown’s husband Daquan Foster was shot several 

times and killed in the parking lot of a Tacoma nightclub called 

Latitude 84.  RP 682. Thirteen 9 mm and four .40 caliber casings 

were recovered at the scene.  App. A-3. Thus, the ballistics 

evidence seemingly established that two guns were used, but 
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neither gun was ever recovered.  RP 637.  At trial the disputed 

issues were how many people shot at Foster – one or two – and 

who the shooter, or shooters were.  The prosecution’s theory was 

that “[t]here was at least two shooters,” and possibly three. RP 

1808-09.  The prosecution told the jury that Marshall Wilson had 

already “been convicted of murder in this case,”9 and that Wilson 

“was one of the shooters.”  RP 638.  The defense theory was that 

“there’s one shooter, and it’s the other guy, and he’s already been 

convicted.” RP 1296. 

In addition to Brown, four witnesses testified regarding the 

identity of the person or persons who shot Foster.  All four of 

them testified they only saw one shooter10 and only 1 of these 

 
9 There were three trials.  Donaldson was convicted in the third 

trial. App. A-7. 
10 Johnasha Manning (RP 995-96, 1003), Kristina Rios (RP 

1853-55), Wyatt Percell (RP 1937), and Tamika Williams (RP 
1495-97, 1504.  Rios and Williams both identified Wilson as the 
shooter that they saw.   
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four (Manning)11 testified that Donaldson was the shooter.12  

Only Olivia Brown testified that she remembered seeing two 

shooters.  RP 1081-82.  She identified Donaldson as one of them.  

But Brown admitted that on the night of the shooting she told 

police that there was only one shooter and that she did not tell the 

police anything about a second shooter until roughly six months 

after the incident.  RP 1199-1200.13  Thus,  

 
11 Manning (RP 1010). 
12 Manning, who admitted she was intoxicated, also described 

the shooter as having a beard.  RP 981, 1315-16.  No other 
witness saw a beard.  

13 The Court of Appeals erroneously stated that on the night of 
the shooting Brown told a patrol officer that there were two 
shooters.  App. A-4, citing RP 862.  But as Donaldson pointed 
out in his motion for reconsideration, the Court of Appeals was 
mistaken.  Although the officer initially testified that Brown told 
him there were two shooters, he retracted this testimony on 
cross-examination.  When asked if Brown “described one person 
shooting, correct?” Officer Cockle replied, “Correct.” RP 868-
69.  The Court of Appeals also overlooked Brown’s own trial 
testimony that she didn’t tell anyone that there were two shooters 
until months after the incident. RP 1119-1200. 
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(1) four of the five witnesses testified that there was only 

one shooter and three of them testified that Donaldson 

was not that person;  

(2) one of the five witnesses said there was only one 

shooter and Donaldson was that person;  

(3) the prosecution stipulated that on the night of the 

shooting14 Brown herself told the police that there was 

only one shooter with one gun; and 

(4)  four months later Brown told the police that there were 

two shooters and that Donaldson was one of them.   

2. Surprise midtrial disclosure of “memory 
improvement” after receipt of EMDR. 

 
Brown testified that her memory changed.  Brown 

admitted that she was interviewed by police more than four times 

and that their “main question” was how many shooters or how 

many guns she saw.  RP 1144.  Brown said that she believed that 

 
14 “[T]he State will stipulate that in this interview that started 

at 3:45 a.m. on October 29th, 2017, Ms. Brown described seeing 
one shooter with one gun.”  RP 1147. 



 

PETITION FOR REVIEW - 11 

DON027-0001 7473115 

within six months of the incident she told the lead detective that 

there were two shooters.  Id.  When asked, “why didn’t you tell 

these two detectives [at the hospital] that you saw a second gun 

and a second shooter?” she answered, “I told them when I 

remembered.” RP 1147-48.  

The prosecutor asked Brown why she came to remember a 

second shooter.  To everyone’s surprise she replied that she had 

received “bilateral therapy” called “EMDR,” and that after that 

she “remembered a lot more.” RP 1189.  Neither the prosecution 

nor the defense knew what EMDR was.15  

3. Denial of defense requests for a continuance or 
recess. 

Noting that this was the first notice he had “from the State 

that their witness was in memory improvement therapy,” defense 

counsel complained that he could not “effectively cross-examine 

 
15 Brown accepted defense counsel’s estimate that she had 

“about 18 sessions” of EMDR before she told Detective Clother 
that she now remembered there had been a second shooter.  RP 
1199-1200. 
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th[e] witness” because he knew nothing about EMDR.  RP 1193.  

The prosecutor argued that “while this trial continues [defense 

counsel] can try to find someone to claim that this therapy 

implants memories” but opposed a continuance as 

“inappropriate.”  RP 1194.  The trial judge acknowledged that he 

“did not know what the significance of” EMDR therapy was and 

denied the motion for a continuance.  RP 1196.  Defense counsel 

then moved for a brief recess asking for “the opportunity to study 

up after I learn what EMDR is and who [the therapist] is between 

now and 1:30 before I continue my cross.”  Id.  The trial judge 

denied that motion as well.  Id.     

4. Suggestive photo montage. 
 
At the shooting scene around 1:45 a.m., Brown “described 

a single shooter” as “a light-skinned male with dreadlocks” who 

was wearing a black hoodie.  App. A-4.  Later that morning at the 

hospital Brown again described the shooter as having dreads.  Id.  

Two days after the shooting, a detective showed Brown two 

photo montages one of which contained Donaldson’s photo.  
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App. A-6.  Donaldson’s photo was the only one of a person with 

dreadlocks and the only one wearing red clothing.  Id.  As the 

Court of Appeals noted, “Brown could not identify anyone from 

either montage.  But she lingered on Donaldson’s photo, 

commenting, “‘He had dreads,’” and “‘[t]he guy in the red 

looked like him, but he had lighter skin.’”  Id.  The detective told 

Brown that drivers’ license photos often do not accurately depict 

the subject’s skin tone.  App. A-8.     

[The next day], Brown called another detective and 
asked to see the photo montage with Donaldson 
again, and the detective refused.  Brown then said, 
“‘The guy in the dreads with the red is the guy,’” 
referring to the image of Donaldson in the montage. 

 
App. A-6.  
   

Over Donaldson’s objection, the photo montage 

containing his photo was admitted in evidence and Brown was 

allowed to testify to her identification of Donaldson from the 

montage.  App. A-8.   
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B. Post-trial procedural history. 

Donaldson filed a timely CrR 7.8 motion in which he 

raised three claims based upon the trial court’s denial of his 

counsel’s motions for either a continuance or a recess so that he 

could learn what EMDR was and how it affected a person’s 

memory.  Donaldson asserted that these rulings violated his Sixth 

and Fourteenth Amendment constitutional rights to due process, 

effective assistance of counsel, cross-examination, and the right 

to present a defense.  See Ungar v. Sarafite, 376 U.S. 575 (1964); 

State v. Edwards, 68 Wn.2d 246, 258, 412 P.2d 747 (1966); State 

v. Willis, 37 Wn.2d 274, 279, 223 P.2d 453 (1950).  He supported 

his motion with a declaration from Professor Henry Otgaar, a 

neuroscientist at Maastricht University, one of the very few 

people who has done research on EMDR and its effects on the 

accuracy of human memory. Appendix C.    

The trial judge referred the 7.8 motion to the Court of 

Appeals for consideration as a PRP.  Pursuant to McFarland, 127 

Wn.2d at 335, Donaldson’s motion for consolidation of his direct 
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appeal and his PRP was granted. Appendix D. The Court of 

Appeals subsequently denied Donaldson’s Sixth Amendment 

claims, on the ground that Donaldson failed to satisfy the Cook 

prejudice requirement by failing to prove by a preponderance of 

the evidence that the outcome of the trial would have been 

different if his motion had been granted.  App. A-22-23.  Cook 

applies only to claims which are raised for the first time in a 

collateral attack proceeding.  114 Wn.2d at 810.  Donaldson’s 

defense counsel immediately raised these claims in the trial court 

as soon as he learned that the witness had received EMDR 

therapy.  Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals applied the Cook 

prejudice rule which governs claims first raised in a collateral 

attack.  

Donaldson argued that use of the photo montage shown by 

police to witness Brown violated the Fourteenth Amendment due 

process clause because it was impermissibly suggestive, relying 

on Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98 (1977) and State v. Derri, 

199 Wn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022).  The Court of Appeals 
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agreed that “the montage was impermissibly suggestive because 

Donaldson was the only person in the montage with dreadlocks,” 

but rejected this claim because Donaldson failed to establish that 

“the unnecessarily suggestive procedure created ‘a very 

substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.’” App. A-

17, quoting Manson, 432 U.S. at 116.  

Donaldson argued that the prosecutor violated his Fifth 

Amendment right to remain silent by explicitly arguing to the 

jury that Donaldson’s failure to tell police “I didn’t do it,” or that 

police were arresting “the wrong guy.”  The Court of Appeals 

rejected this argument ruling that the Fifth Amendment was not 

violated.  App. A-28-29.     

VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

A. The decision below conflicts with this Court’s decision 
in Martin.  
 
In Martin this Court held drew a bright line rule: 

“[T]testimony by a witness as to a fact which became available 

following hypnosis is inadmissible in the trial of criminal cases 
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in this state,” but “a witness may testify based on what he knew 

before hypnosis, provided the appropriate safeguards are 

present.” 101 Wn.2d at 714.  Noting that “[t]he parties cite no 

Washington case” involving EMDR, the Court of Appeals 

appears to have questioned whether the Martin rules applied.    

App. A-23. It went on to “assum[e] without deciding” that the 

EMDR did generate false memories for Brown, but reasoned that 

those false memories were “primarily related to whether Wilson 

was a shooter.” App. A-23. Overlooking the fact that the State 

stipulated, and that Brown herself admitted that she did not 

remember seeing two shooters until after she had been receiving 

EMDR therapy for some time, the Court of Appeals held that 

Donaldson was not entitled to any relief because he had failed to 

prove that he was prejudiced by any false memory that Brown’s 

EMDR created.   

The Court of Appeals’ opinion violates the burden of proof 

rule of Martin.  Martin holds that in order to be admissible, the 

party wishing to present the testimony of a hypnotized witness 
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must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the witness’ 

memory was not altered.  The Court of Appeals held that 

Donaldson’s appeal failed because Donaldson did not prove by 

a preponderance of the evidence that Brown’s memory was 

altered by her EMDR therapy.  Thus, the Court below shifted the 

burden of proof from the State to the defendant in violation of 

the Martin rule for hypnotized witnesses.   

The Court of Appeals also ignored Martin’s admissibility 

requirement that the party offering the witness must show that 

“appropriate procedural safeguards” were followed.  101 Wn.2d 

at 714. These safeguards include the following: (1) preserving 

“[a] detailed record of the witness’ prehypnotic memory”; (2) 

resolving any uncertainties in favor of the party opposing 

admission of the witness’ testimony; and (3) giving that party 

“the opportunity to show the possible effect of the hypnosis on 

the witness’ testimony and the manner in which [it] was 

conducted.” Id. at 722-23.  
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In this case, none of the Martin procedural safeguards 

were employed.  Moreover, by denying defense counsel’s 

motions for a continuance or a mid-trial recess, Donaldson was 

totally deprived of “the opportunity to show the possible effect 

of the” EMDR on the witness.  Defense counsel was given no 

opportunity to learn what EMDR was; to consult with any expert 

about it; to present any evidence regarding its dangers; or to 

cross-examine16 witness Brown regarding the particulars (who, 

when, where) of her EMDR therapy.   

Martin also holds that “[a]bsent some independent 

verification that the witness’ testimony consists of prehypnotic 

 
16 See Martin, 101 Wn.2d at 721-22 “[E]ffective cross-

examination is seriously impeded, as the witness cannot 
distinguish between facts known prior to hypnotism, facts 
confabulated during hypnosis to produce pseudomemories, and 
facts learned after hypnosis.  … [T]he witness … will have 
absolute subjective conviction about a particular set of events, 
whether or not his perceptions are objectively accurate.  It is this 
tendency towards immunization from meaningful cross-
examination in particular that leads us to conclude that a 
person, once hypnotized, should be barred from testifying 
concerning information recalled while under hypnosis.” 
(Emphasis added). 
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[or, here, pre-EMDR] memory, the propriety of its admission is 

questionable.”  101 Wn.2d at 723.  Since the witness herself 

“may be unable to distinguish between prehypnotic memory and 

post-hypnotic memory confabulations,” this Court held there 

must be strong corroboration of the fact supposedly recalled prior 

to the hypnosis.  Id. at 724.  Neither the trial judge nor the Court 

of Appeals ever made any such finding, and no Washington 

appellate court has the ability to make such a finding because the 

power to find facts is “exclusively vested in the trial courts.”17  

Without remanding for a Superior Court judge to decide whether 

such a finding is warranted, the Court of Appeals simply ignored 

this Martin requirement.   

B. The Court of Appeals erroneously applied the Cook 
prejudice standard contrary to Sandoval. 
 
The Court below rejected Donaldson’s Sixth Amendment 

claims on the ground that “[e]ven assuming the trial court should 

 
17 See Edwards v. Morrison-Knudsen Co., 61 Wn.2d 593, 598-

599, 379 P.2d 735 (1963). 
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have granted a recess to allow Donaldson’s counsel time to 

prepare for cross-examination,” Donaldson had not satisfied the 

Cook “actual and substantial prejudice” requirement:  

To demonstrate actual and substantial prejudice, the 
petitioner must show that the outcome of the 
proceeding “would more likely than not have been 
different had the error not occurred.” 
  

App. A-22-23 (emphasis added).  

 The Court of Appeals held: "Even assuming that the trial 

court erred by denying the recess to prepare for cross-

examination in light of Brown’s new testimony about her EMDR 

therapy … [b]ecause Donaldson cannot show actual and 

substantial prejudice arising from the alleged error, we deny 

Donaldson’s PRP.” Id. at App. A-24-25.   

On reconsideration Donaldson argued that the “actual and 

substantial prejudice” rule did not apply to him because his PRP 

was filed and consolidated with his direct appeal pursuant to 

McFarland.  Sandoval shows that Donaldson was correct.    
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Like Donaldson, Sandoval followed the McFarland 

procedure. Sandoval, at 168.  “The Court of Appeals 

consolidated [his] appeal and [his] PRP, and in an unpublished 

opinion, affirmed the conviction and denied the PRP.”  Id.  This 

Court reversed holding that while “[o]rdinarily a personal 

restraint petitioner must show actual and substantial prejudice … 

[t]his actual and substantial prejudice standard does not apply 

when the petitioner has not had a prior opportunity to appeal the 

issue to a disinterested judge.”  Id.  

Sandoval filed a PRP “concurrently with [his] direct 

appeal” because the evidence he needed to prove his claim “does 

not appear in the trial court record.”  Id. at 168-169, quoting 

McFarland, at 335. 

Because of this unique procedural obstacle to 
Sandoval’s ineffective assistance claim, he has not 
“already had an opportunity to appeal to a 
disinterested judge.  [Citation].  Thus, Sandoval 
does not have to show actual and substantial 
prejudice …. 

 
Sandoval, at 169.  
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 Donaldson did the same thing. He filed a CrR 7.8 motion, 

which was converted to a PRP by a judge who was not a 

disinterested appellate judge, and thus he “does not have to show 

actual and substantial prejudice.” The Court of Appeals erred 

when it held that he did. Id.  

 Once Donaldson showed a violation of the Sixth 

Amendment right to cross-examine or the right to present a 

defense, (see, e.g., State v. Edwards, 68 Wn.2d at 258), he had 

no burden at all to show prejudice.  Instead, as Chapman dictates, 

the State had the burden of proving harmlessness beyond a 

reasonable doubt.         

C. Although he was raising a claim of ineffective 
assistance, contrary to Crace and Strickland the Court 
of Appeals held that Donaldson had to meet the Cook 
more-likely-than-not prejudice standard. 
  
The Court of Appeals’ decision also conflicts with this 

Court’s decision in In re Crace and with the U.S. Supreme 

Court’s decision in Strickland. Strickland, at 693.  A PRP 

petitioner asserting ineffective assistance need not prove that 
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counsel’s deficient performance more likely than not altered the 

outcome of the case.  He “need not show more prejudice on 

collateral attack than on direct appeal,” and need only satisfy 

Strickland.  Crace, 174 Wn.2d at 847 citing Strickland, at 697.  

He need only show that there is a reasonable probability that 

absent the deficient conduct the fact finder would have had a 

reasonable doubt.  Strickland, at 695. He does not have to show 

a probability that exceeds 50%. Crace, at 845. The Court of 

Appeals erred when it rejected Donaldson’s ineffective 

assistance of counsel claim because he failed to make such a 

showing. App. A-23.   

D. Misapplication of the Biggers/Brathwaite opportunity 
to view factor.  
  
1. The Court of Appeals did not consider the 

witness’ opportunity to view the shooter “at the 
time of the crime.”  

 
The first of the five “factors to be considered in evaluating 

the likelihood of misidentification” is “the opportunity of the 

witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime.” Biggers, 
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409 U.S. at 199; accord Manson, 432 U.S. at 114.  “At the time 

of the crime” – witness Brown had at most a few seconds to 

observe a man who “had long dreads” and who “just came out of 

nowhere,” ran up to where she was standing and shot her husband 

in a dark parking lot, sometime shortly after 1:33 a.m.18   

Instead of analyzing Brown’s opportunity to view “the 

shooter” who shot outside the nightclub, the Court below 

analyzed Brown’s opportunity to observe a man who was 

“throwing money” inside the club at least one hour earlier.  It is 

undisputed that Donaldson was one of two men who was 

throwing money inside.  But this opportunity is irrelevant to the 

issue of whether Donaldson was the same man that Brown says 

ran up “out of nowhere” and shot her husband outside the club.   

Thus, the Court below failed to apply the correct legal 

standard for analyzing the reliability of Brown’s identification of 

 
18 RP 1061-62, 1083-84, 1089.                    
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Donaldson. See, e.g., United States v. Emanuele, 51 F.3d 1123 

(3rd Cir. 1995). 

2. Failure to consider stress at the time of the crime.  

The Court of Appeals compounded its error by 

considering the fact that Brown was not under any stress when 

she observed Donaldson inside the nightclub an hour or before 

she and her husband were shot outside the club, instead of the 

obvious and undisputed fact that she was under a huge amount 

of stress at the time the crime was committed.  See, e.g., Derri, 

199 Wn.2d at 687 (“Undoubtedly, witnessing a robbery is a 

stressful event ….”).   

3. Contrary to Manson the Court of Appeals 
considered “corroborative” evidence when 
deciding whether the identification was reliable.   

 
In Manson, the Supreme Court noted that besides the 

eyewitness’ identification testimony, there was other evidence 

which corroborated the eyewitness’ identification.  However, the 

Court expressly stated that this corroborative evidence “plays no 

part” in a court’s analysis of the reliability of the eyewitness’ 
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identification.  Manson, 432 U.S. at 116, and at 118 (Stevens, J., 

concurring).   

This distinction is critical because the burden of proof is 

on the defendant to prove the unreliability of the witness 

identification by a preponderance of the evidence.  However, on 

direct appeal the burden of proof is on the prosecution to prove 

that a Biggers due process violation was harmless beyond a 

reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Emanuele, 51 F.3d at 1131, citing 

Chapman, 386 U.S. at 24.  Corroborative evidence that supports 

a finding of guilt may not be considered when deciding whether 

the defendant has proved that the suggestive procedure caused 

the eyewitness identification to be unreliable.  Id. at 1128.   

“[O]nly factors relating to the reliability of the identification will 

be relevant to a due process analysis. Independent evidence of 

culpability will not cure a tainted identification procedure ….”  

The Court of Appeals noted Brown’s two-shooter memory 

was seemingly corroborated by recovered casings which 

suggested that two guns, one of which was a 9 mm pistol, were 
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used. App. A-3-4.  The Court further noted that a rap music video 

made at some unknown time, showed Donaldson holding a 

weapon that was “consistent” with a real Glock pistol.  App. A-

3-4, 13.  Finally, the Court of Appeals erroneously stated that 

“Brown’s descriptions were consistent with those other 

witnesses gave,” pointing to Manning’s description of the 

shooter.  App. A-20.19  

But even if a description from some other witness matched 

Brown’s description perfectly, the Supreme Court’s decision in 

 
19 Preliminarily, it must be noted that this statement is 

incorrect.  It is true that all the witnesses described the shooter as 
an African-American man. See RP 996. But that “consistency” 
is hardly enough to make Brown’s identification reliable, 
particularly in light of the fact that Marshall Wilson, who 
everyone agrees was “a” shooter, is also an African-American. 
Moreover, although Manning testified at trial that the shooter she 
saw had dreads, on the night of the incident, Manning failed to 
make any mention of dreads when she described the shooter to 
Detective Buchanan.  RP 1315-16.  A few hours after the 
incident, Manning also told Detective Buchanan that night that 
the shooter had a “thin beard.” RP 1315-16. But no other 
witnesses testified that they saw a bearded shooter. Finally, 
Brown described Donaldson as wearing a gold grille covering his 
teeth.  App. A-20.  But Manning described the shooter as having 
“exposed teeth” or “protruding teeth.” RP 1325. 
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Manson prohibits consideration of such “corroborating” 

evidence when assessing the reliability of Brown’s 

identification.      

E. The decision below is in conflict with decisions of this 
Court and with the U.S. Supreme Court’s decision in 
Chapman.  
 
The prosecutor argued to the jury that the defendant’s 

“response” to being arrested by several police pointing guns at 

him showed he was guilty because he did not say “something like 

‘you've got the wrong guy’ or ‘what's this about’ or ‘I didn't do 

this.’ His response is nothing like you would expect from 

someone who didn't do it.” RP 2938 (italics added).  

The Court of Appeals held that Donaldson did not show 

that this argument did not violate the Fifth Amendment because 

“[t]he prosecutor did not use the statements to draw attention to 

or otherwise comment” on Donaldson’s exercise of his right to 

silence.  App. A-30-31.  But as many decisions of this Court and 

the Court of Appeals show, that is exactly what the prosecutor 

did. See, e.g., State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 242-43, 922 P.2d 
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1285 (1996); State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 217, 181 P.3d 1 

(2008); State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 510, 755 P.2d 174 

(1988) (“If you got a story and you are innocent, you tell the 

cops” violated due process); State v. Knapp, 148 Wn. App. 414, 

421, 199 P.3d 505 (2009) (“the prosecutor argued, “[h]e put his 

head down. Did he say, ‘No. It wasn’t me’? [sic] No,’ he implied 

that an innocent person would have denied the accusation.”).  

VII. CONCLUSION 
 
“Mistaken eyewitness identification is a leading cause of 

wrongful conviction.” Derri, at 662.  “[P]roblems associated 

with [the use of] hypnotically induced testimony make its use at 

trial particularly dangerous.” Martin, at 721.  Both dangers are 

present in this case.  These dangers were compounded when the 

prosecutor argued to the jury, “did her memory improve with 

trauma therapy?  Yes.  This wasn’t voodoo science.”  (RP 2931) 

and that Donaldson’s failure to say “I didn’t do this” when he 

was arrested showed that he was guilty.  For the many reasons 
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stated above, Petitioner Donaldson asks this Court to grant 

review and to reverse his convictions.  

This document contains 4,995 words, excluding the 
parts of the document exempted from the word 
count by RAP 18.17. 

Respectfully submitted this 16th day of February, 2024. 

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 

By s/James E. Lobsenz  
James E. Lobsenz, WSBA #8787 

 
Attorneys for Petitioner 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under 
the laws of the State of Washington that I am an employee at 
Carney Badley Spellman, P.S., over the age of 18 years, not a 
party to nor interested in the above-entitled action, and 
competent to be a witness herein.  On the date stated below, I 
caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing 
document on the below-listed attorney(s) of record by the 
method(s) noted: 
 

 COURT’S ESERVICE to the following: 

Attorneys for Respondent 
Teresa Chen 
PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTOR'S OFFICE 
930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 
Tacoma, WA  98402 
teresa.chen@piercecountywa.gov 
 
DATED this 16th day of February, 2024. 

s/Deborah A. Groth  
Deborah A. Groth, Legal Assistant 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

DIVISION II 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 55942-1-II 

(consolidated w/ No. 57102-1-II) 

Respondent, 

v. 

RANDY LOUIS DONALDSON, UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

Appellant. 

In the Matter of the Personal Restraint of: 

RANDY LOUIS DONALDSON, 

Petitioner. 

GLASGOW, C.J. — Daquan Foster got into a fistfight with Marshall Wilson outside of a bar 

in Tacoma. Wilson pulled a gun and shot at Foster. Randy Donaldson ran towards the fight and 

also shot at Foster. Foster was killed and his wife, Olivia Brown, was shot in the hand. 

Brown described Donaldson to police several times immediately after the shooting, each 

time describing a light-skinned Black man who had shoulder-length dreadlocks pulled back into a 

ponytail, had a gold grille in his mouth, and wore a black hoodie. Later that morning, friends 

showed Brown a Facebook video taken the night of the shooting that included Donaldson.  

A few days later, Brown identified Donaldson to police as the person in the Facebook video 

who later shot her husband. That same day, police showed Brown photo montages, including one 

Filed 

Washington State 

Court of Appeals 
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where Donaldson was the only person with dreadlocks. Brown initially could not identify any 

shooter in the montages, but she called police the next day and identified Donaldson as the shooter. 

The State charged Donaldson with second degree murder of Foster, first degree assault of 

Brown, and second degree assault of another witness, all with firearm sentencing enhancements. 

After two mistrials, a jury convicted Donaldson. 

Donaldson appealed and filed a timely personal restraint petition (PRP) that we 

consolidated. He argues the trial court erred by admitting Brown’s pretrial and in court 

identifications of him because the photo montage procedure was impermissibly suggestive and 

Brown’s identifications were not reliable. His PRP introduces research asserting that a trauma 

therapy Brown underwent after the shooting may have implanted false memories. Next, Donaldson 

contends that the trial court erred by admitting portions of music videos Donaldson appeared in. 

He also asserts that the prosecutor committed misconduct in closing arguments and that trial 

counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the misconduct. And he insists that cumulative 

errors require a new trial. Finally, Donaldson filed a statement of additional grounds for review 

(SAG). 

Although the photo montage procedure was impermissibly suggestive, Brown’s 

identification was reliable under the totality of the circumstances. We reject Donaldson’s 

remaining arguments, affirm his convictions, and deny his PRP. 
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FACTS1 

I. BACKGROUND

A. Shooting

Donaldson and Wilson were hip hop artists who appeared in several of each other’s music

videos. They went to a Tacoma bar together one night in 2017. Several members of their group 

attracted attention by throwing money in the air inside of the bar.  

That night, Foster, Brown, and a group of friends went to the same bar to celebrate Brown 

passing a military aptitude test. Some of Brown and Foster’s friends picked up money from the 

ground that Donaldson and Wilson’s group had thrown in the air.  

Foster and Brown’s group stayed until the bar closed, then left the building. In the bar’s 

parking lot, Foster and Wilson got into an altercation and exchanged punches. Wilson pulled a gun 

and began shooting at Foster. Another man, identified at trial as Donaldson, ran up and also shot 

at Foster.  

Foster was shot seven times in the torso, including one bullet that penetrated his lung and 

heart. Brown was shot in the hand. Foster died from his wounds.  

Police recovered thirteen 9 millimeter and four .40 caliber casings from the bar parking lot. 

The 9 millimeter casings were all fired from one gun and the .40 caliber casings were all fired from 

a single other gun. The firing pin impression on the 9 millimeter casings was most often seen on 

bullets fired from Glock guns. A single 9 millimeter bullet, which was not the bullet that killed 

1 The State improperly cites to argument rather than evidence to support factual statements in its 

briefing. For example, the State asserts that Donaldson “shot 13 rounds from a 9mm handgun,” 

citing to the prosecutor’s opening statements and argument during motions in limine. Br. of Resp’t 

at 5. Donaldson correctly notes that opening, closing, and other attorney arguments are not 

evidence.  
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Foster, was recovered from Foster’s body; all other bullets had exited his body. Police could not 

determine whether a 9 millimeter or .40 caliber bullet was the one that killed him. No firearms 

were ever recovered in connection with the shooting.  

B. Initial Interviews

At the scene around 1:45 a.m., Brown described a single shooter to an officer and said the

shooter was not the person who had been fighting with her husband. She described “a light-skinned 

male with dreadlocks pulled back into a ponytail with a grill in his mouth wearing a black hoodie.” 

12 Verbatim Rep. of Proc. (VRP) at 1217. A “different person” had been fighting with Foster 

before the shooting. 12 (VRP). at 1218. 

Brown was then taken to the hospital for her hand injury. Shortly after arriving at the 

hospital around 2:20 a.m., she spoke to a patrol officer. This time, Brown described two shooters 

to the officer. The first was a “possibly Hispanic male” who was right next to Foster. 9 VRP at 

862. The second, “who ran up behind later and was shooting,” was “a light complexion, high

yellow, [B]lack male [who was] five-foot nine to six-foot in height; approximately 170 pounds; 

late 20s in age; [with] shoulder-length dreadlocks pulled back into a ponytail; gold grille in his 

mouth; and wearing a black hoodie.” 9 VRP at 863.  

Detectives then interviewed Brown early in her stay at the hospital, around 3:45 a.m. She 

described only one shooter to the detectives: the man who ran up to help the person who was 

fighting with her husband. Brown said she saw the shooter earlier in the night “in the club throwing 

singles in the air.” Ex. 232, at 6. She said the shooter was a “[l]ight skinned [B]lack” man. Id. “He 

had dreads . . . in a ponytail. He had a black . . . hoodie on.” Id. She said the shooter was 

approximately five feet eight inches tall, roughly 170 pounds, and wearing a grill. Brown described 
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the shooter’s handgun as “short” but “with a long clip.” Ex. 232, at 7. She thought the clip was 

spray-painted white but was not certain about the color of the gun’s body. 

Police interviewed other members of Foster and Brown’s group at the police station. One 

friend who was close to the shooting, Wyatt Percell, described a single shooter who was a Latino 

male wearing a white shirt, a description that matched Wilson. Another friend described a single 

shooter who was a “Black male in his mid to late 20s, approximately five-foot-eight inches tall, 

160 pounds,” with a “boney, narrow face, [and] exposed teeth.” 13 VRP at 1315. She said the 

shooter had “a nappy, but thin beard” and was wearing a black T-shirt. Id. She also said that the 

shooter had “[t]wo French-braided dreads.” 13 VRP. at 1317; see also 10 VRP at 996 (trial 

testimony where the same witness described the shooter as a light-skinned Black man with 

dreadlocks “braided to the back,” thin facial hair, and a black hoodie). 

C. Facebook Video

After their interviews at the police station, a group of Brown’s friends went to meet her at

the hospital between the hours of 4:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. While the group discussed the shooting, 

one friend thought she had recognized a member of the group who was throwing money in the bar 

and began searching for that person on Facebook. She found the person’s Facebook profile, which 

contained a video, recorded that night, of the group that was throwing money inside the bar. 

The friends showed Brown the Facebook video. Brown, Percell, and another witness who 

had described the shooter at the police station all agreed that the shooter, who would later be 

identified as Donaldson, appeared in the video. The friends then alerted police, who contacted 

Facebook with a warrant.  
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D. Photo Montage

The shooting occurred early in the morning on October 29, 2017. On the afternoon of

October 31, three detectives visited Brown to administer two photo montages, one for each 

suspected shooter. Before they administered the montages, Brown told them she had seen the 

Facebook video.  

All of the montage photos were from driver’s licenses. Donaldson’s image was in one of 

the montages along with five other photos of Black men. Donaldson’s photo was the only one in 

his montage of a person with dreadlocks; the other five men had braided hair The photo montage 

can be viewed here: https://perma.cc/JX4Q-FEMZ. Donaldson was also the only person in his 

montage wearing red clothing. Brown could not identify anyone from either montage. But she 

lingered on Donaldson’s photo in his montage, commenting, “‘He had dreads,’” and “‘[t]he guy 

in the red looked like him, but he had lighter skin.’” 15 VRP at 1792, 1794. 

After the detectives left that day, Brown called one of the detectives and sent screenshots 

from the Facebook video, identifying the shooter in the video. On November 1, 2017, Brown called 

another detective and asked to see the photo montage with Donaldson again, and the detective 

refused. Brown then said, “‘The guy in the dreads with the red is the guy,’” referring to the image 

of Donaldson in the montage. 15 VRP at 1679; Ex. 29. 

E. Donaldson’s Arrest

Police arrested Wilson and Donaldson in early November 2017. No firearms were

recovered during either arrest. One officer asked Donaldson his name. Donaldson responded, 

“‘You’ve got your prize. Let’s go.’” 13 VRP at 1415. Without further prompting from the officer, 

he then said, “‘Okay. I’m 30. I’ve done everything I wanted to do.’” Id. 
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The State charged Donaldson with second degree murder and second degree felony murder 

of Foster, first degree assault of Brown, and second degree assault of their friend Percell.2 All of 

these charges had firearm sentencing enhancements.  

F. First and Second Trials

The State tried Wilson and Donaldson together in 2019. The jury convicted Wilson but

deadlocked on all charges against Donaldson.3 The trial court declared a mistrial. 

Donaldson’s second trial began in February 2020. After losing several jurors due to 

complications from the COVID-19 pandemic, Donaldson declined to proceed with 11 jurors and 

the trial court declared another mistrial.  

II. THIRD TRIAL

A. Preliminary Proceedings

Before Donaldson’s third trial, the State moved to admit the statements Donaldson made

when he was arrested under CrR 3.5. The trial court found that Donaldson “made a series of 

statements despite not being asked any questions” except for his name. Clerk’s Papers (CP) at 739 

(Finding of Fact (FF) 9). It found that Donaldson “stated, ‘You got your prize, let’s go!’ and ‘I’m 

thirty, I’ve done everything I wanted to do.’” Id. (FF 10).The trial court concluded that the 

statements Donaldson made during his arrest were admissible because “they were made 

voluntarily and not in response to questioning or interrogation.” CP at 741 (Conclusion of Law 2). 

2 The assaults on Brown and Percell were the underlying felonies for the felony murder charge. 

The State also charged Donaldson with unlawful possession of a firearm. Donaldson later waived 

his right to a jury trial regarding this charge, allowing the judge to decide it.  

3 After the jury deadlocked in the first trial, the State dismissed the unlawful possession of a firearm 

charge against Donaldson for tactical reasons before the trial court issued its ruling.  
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Donaldson initially moved to exclude any rap music videos or still photos from those 

videos as irrelevant under ER 403 and as ER 404(b) evidence of prior bad acts. The trial court 

indicated that the music videos and still photos from them would likely be admissible for specific 

purposes, such as establishing a relationship between Wilson and Donaldson, but it did not make 

a final ruling.  

B. Evidence Presented at Trial

1. Testimony about the photo montage

At trial, Brown testified that she watched Foster and Wilson get in a fistfight and that Foster 

knocked Wilson to the ground. Wilson got up and was reaching for a gun when a second man 

“came out of nowhere and just start[ed] shooting [Foster], and then they both started shooting 

[Foster].” 11 VRP at 1081-82. She then identified Donaldson in the courtroom as the shooter who 

ran up on the fight. Defense counsel did not object to Brown’s in-court identification of Donaldson 

as the shooter. Brown also explained that she saw Wilson and Donaldson earlier that night with 

the group throwing money inside the bar.  

When the State moved to admit the photo montage that included Donaldson, defense 

counsel objected, arguing that the montage was inadmissible under ER 403. Defense counsel 

asserted that Brown could not initially identify the shooter from the montage, so admitting the 

evidence would be “suggestive,” confusing, and misleading. 12 VRP at 1178-80. The trial court 

overruled the objection and admitted the photo montage and Brown’s testimony about her 

identification of Donaldson from the montage. One of the detectives who administered the 

montage testified that there is “often a problem with montages if you use driver’s license photos” 

because the subject’s skin tone can appear different than in real life. 15 VRP at 1748. 
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On cross-examination, defense counsel elicited testimony that Brown saw the Facebook 

video before she identified Donaldson from the photo montage. And while cross-examining 

another detective who administered the photo montage, defense counsel questioned the value of 

Brown’s identification, asking if the montage was “unduly suggestive” because it was “obvious” 

that Donaldson was the only person in the montage with dreadlocks. 17 VRP at 2112-13. 

2. Testimony about EMDR therapy

During trial, Brown addressed the fact that she had been inconsistent in remembering 

whether or not Wilson fired a gun. She said she remembered Wilson shooting after undergoing 

eye movement desensitization and reprocessing (EMDR) therapy in the months following the 

shooting.  

EMDR therapy “requires the clinician to move a finger back and forth across the patient’s 

field of vision . . . while the patient considers a selected unsettling image related to a traumatic 

experience.” Captain Evan R. Seamone, Attorneys as First-Responders: Recognizing the 

Destructive Nature of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder on the Combat Veteran’s Legal Decision-

Making Process, 202 MIL. L. REV. 144, 175-76 (2009). The therapy reduces the emotional 

response of a memory so the recollection becomes “‘a flashbulb memory, a picture with . . . just a 

feeling of sadness and a sense of loss,’” instead of a trigger for posttraumatic stress. Id. at 176 

(quoting ASHELY R. HART II, AN OPERATOR’S MANUAL FOR COMBAT PTSD: ESSAYS FOR COPING

31 (2000)).  

Brown testified that the therapy “[brought her] back to the scene of everything that 

happened” and allowed her to “remember more,” as well as healing the traumatized part of her 

brain. 12 VRP at 1189-90. 
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At a break, defense counsel requested a one-month continuance to research EMDR therapy, 

arguing that the State had committed a discovery violation by not telling counsel that Brown “was 

in memory improvement therapy . . . designed to recall details of the event.” 12 VRP at 1193. The 

State responded that EMDR was intended as a trauma therapy, that no one had ever asked Brown 

if she had gone through trauma therapy, and that “[i]t is not a discovery violation simply because 

no one has ever asked.” 12 VRP at 1194. The trial court stated, “I don’t know what the significance 

of any of this is,” but reasoned that the therapy “was not necessarily supposed to be a memory 

enhancement” as much as “a way to cope with trauma.” 12 VRP at 1196. And it concluded that 

there was not “any discovery violation or misconduct from the prosecutor since it appears that . . . 

they were as surprised by this as anybody.” Id. The trial court denied the motion for a continuance. 

Defense counsel then requested a recess for the remainder of the morning “to study up” before 

continuing cross-examination in the afternoon. Id. The trial court also denied that request.  

On cross-examination, Brown testified that she did not know what the acronym EMDR 

stood for, how the therapy worked, or whether the therapy was intended to help with “trauma 

coping as opposed to recreating memories.” 12 VRP at 1199. 

3. Other identifications of shooters

Surveillance videos of the shooting admitted at trial showed at least seven muzzle flashes 

associated with two different people. The State’s video expert testified that because the 

surveillance cameras recorded only 30 frames per second, additional muzzle flashes could have 

occurred without being captured on the video. Identifying the shooters from the surveillance video 

was difficult due to the poor lighting, low resolution of the video, and distance of the camera from 

the shooting.  
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One of the witnesses who had previously described Donaldson to police testified about 

what she saw during the shooting. The witness said that when the shooting was happening, she 

was close enough to reach out and touch the one shooter she saw. She explained that after the 

shooting, when she was at the hospital, she watched the Facebook video and recognized Donaldson 

as the shooter. She then identified Donaldson as the shooter in the courtroom.  

The trial court also admitted a transcript of the testimony of another of Brown’s friends, 

who testified in the first trial but was found to be unavailable for the third.4 In the first trial, the 

friend said that before the shooting, she saw Foster get into a fight with a man who “looked 

Hispanic,” was “extremely light skinned,” and was “definitely shorter than Foster.” CP at 785. She 

described seeing only one shooter but hearing a pattern of gunfire that made her “assume that there 

was more than one person shooting.” CP at 788. The shooter she saw was a medium-skinned Black 

man with dreadlocks, but she could not recall the length of the dreadlocks or if they were tied back. 

Percell, the victim of the second degree assault charge, also testified. Although other 

witnesses testified that he had previously identified Donaldson as a shooter, Percell, who suffered 

posttraumatic stress after the shooting, could not identify the shooter in the courtroom and did not 

recall identifying Donaldson as a shooter. See 16 VRP at 1942-48 (testimony that Percell identified 

Donaldson as the shooter from the Facebook video around the time of the first trial); 22 VRP at 

2822 (testimony that Percell identified Donaldson as the shooter from the Facebook video at the 

hospital). 

4 The State bought this witnesses a plane ticket, but she refused to get on the plane and stopped 

responding to messages from the prosecutor. The trial court found that she was unavailable under 

ER 804 and that defense counsel had adequate opportunity to develop her testimony through cross-

examination in the first trial. Thus, her testimony from the prior trial was read to the jury.  
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Defense witnesses testified that they saw Wilson shoot, but not Donaldson. One witness 

testified that Donaldson was the only person in his group in the bar with dreadlocks. One witness 

identified a “light-skinned” shooter and said Donaldson was not near the shooting. 14 VRP at 

1495. Another defense witness who arrived at the bar with Donaldson and Wilson testified that 

she saw Wilson fire a gun before she turned and ran from the scene. She initially testified that 

Donaldson did not have anything to do with the shooting. The State then impeached her with her 

prior testimony that she saw Donaldson “r[u]n towards the tussle” of Wilson and Foster 

immediately before the shooting. 16 VRP at 1878. 

4. Music videos

The State moved to admit several still images from a music video Donaldson appeared in. 

The video was posted online three days before the shooting. The images showed Donaldson 

holding what appeared to be a Glock handgun with an extended magazine, the kind of gun and 

magazine used in the shooting. The video had a disclaimer at the end stating that all of the guns in 

the video were props. The trial court ruled that the still images of Donaldson were relevant to show 

that he had access to that kind of gun. 

After the trial court’s ruling, Donaldson moved to admit the entire music video without 

sound, including the disclaimer, under the rule of completeness. The trial court ruled that most of 

the video was admissible, but excluded the disclaimer as hearsay. It does not appear from our 

record that the video was ever played for the jury. 

The State later offered and the trial court admitted several more still images from music 

videos Donaldson appeared in over defense counsel’s ER 403 and 404(b) objections. Two stills 

showed the outfit Donaldson wore for a video and a third showed someone with the same clothing 
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holding a gun with an extended magazine. Another image showed someone taking the magazine 

out of a gun. Other images showed the car Donaldson was alleged to have left the crime scene in, 

Donaldson wearing a gold grille, and Donaldson and Wilson standing next to each other or 

appearing in each other’s videos.  

The State’s firearm expert testified that the 9 millimeter casings at the crime scene were 

likely fired from a Glock. The State then showed the expert witness the music video images of the 

gun. The expert explained that Donaldson was holding something “visually consistent [with] a 

Glock firearm” in the images but could not identify the caliber or “say with any certainty” whether 

the gun or ammunition in the images was real. 18 VRP at 2184. 

C. Jury Instructions and Closing Arguments

The jury instructions provided the law of accomplice liability, explaining that a person is

an accomplice to a crime “if, with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of 

the crime,” they encourage or ask another person to commit the crime or “aid[] or agree[] to aid 

another person in planning or committing the crime.” CP at 844. The instructions stated that “‘aid’” 

includes “words, acts, encouragement, support, or presence. A person who is present at the scene 

and ready to assist by [their] presence is aiding in the commission of the crime. However, more 

than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of another must be shown.” Id. 

In closing arguments, the prosecutor summarized the concept of accomplice liability. The 

prosecutor explained, “[W]hen you knowingly assist someone in the commission of a crime, you 

are responsible, not only for your actions, but you’re responsible legally for the actions of the 

person you are assisting.” 23 VRP at 2906-07. “And so . . . when the defendant runs up to provide 

aid to Marshall Wilson, the defendant is not only responsible for his gun and his bullets; he’s 
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responsible for Marshall Wilson’s gun and Marshall Wilson’s bullets as well.” 23 VRP at 2907. 

Defense counsel did not object to this explanation. 

Later, the prosecutor applied the principle to the facts of the case, explaining that although 

one of the bullets removed from Foster was a 9 millimeter, the caliber of the bullet that killed 

Foster by piercing his lung and heart was unknown: “This gets back to the idea of accomplice 

liability. Regardless of whose bullet it was that killed [Foster], you are responsible, not only for 

your bullets, but [for] those of your accomplices.” 23 VRP at 2942. Again, defense counsel did 

not object. 

The prosecutor also summarized the evidence in the case, including the statements 

Donaldson made when arrested: 

He is arrested, and this isn’t some small-time arrest. . . . This is a massive—

officer, SWAT included [operation], that are arresting the defendant, taking him to 

Tacoma patrol cars with Tacoma officers in uniform for a murder that happened 

eight days earlier. He knows exactly what this is about. And what is his response? 

His response is not something like “you’ve got the wrong guy” or “what’s 

this about” or “I didn’t do this.” His response is nothing like you would expect from 

someone who didn’t do it. His response is one of absolute defiance and just 

indifference, talking about how the officers got their prize. Even more importantly, 

“It’s okay. I did everything I wanted to do. I’m 30. I did everything I wanted to do 

in my life.” That’s his statement. You are being arrested for murder. You are being 

arrested for gunning down a 22-year-old, and your statement is “It’s okay. I did 

everything I wanted to do in my life anyway.” It’s really a callous statement because 

[Foster] didn’t get to do everything in his life that he wants to do. More than that, 

it gives a window into his mindset. These are not the words of someone who didn’t 

do it. 

23 VRP at 2938-39. Defense counsel did not object to these comments. 

In defense closing arguments, counsel attacked Brown’s credibility while emphasizing the 

credibility of witnesses who described seeing only Wilson fire a gun. In rebuttal, the State 
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commented that counsel “didn’t have one way of explaining away his client’s statements when he 

was arrested.” 23 VRP at 2976. 

D. Verdict and Later Proceedings

The jury convicted Donaldson of all charges and found that he was armed with a firearm

during all the offenses. 

At sentencing, the trial court ruled that the second degree felony murder conviction merged 

with the second degree murder conviction. The trial court imposed a sentence at the high end of 

the standard sentencing range for the second degree murder and the low end of the standard 

sentencing range for the first degree assault.5 After the firearm sentencing enhancements, the total 

sentence imposed was 514 months.  

Donaldson appealed and filed a CrR 7.8 motion that was transferred to this court as a timely 

PRP, which we consolidated. The PRP includes a declaration from Dr. Henry Otgaar explaining 

that EMDR can amplify the formation of false memories. But Otgaar also admits that he “do[es] 

not have enough information” to form an opinion on whether “Brown’s receipt of EMDR actually 

did cause the creation of any false memories such that her testimony regarding her husband’s death 

was inaccurate.” PRP, Decl. of Otgaar at 9. 

5 Because the second degree murder and first degree assault were both serious violent offenses, 

their sentences had to run consecutively, while the second degree assault charge could run 

concurrently.  
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ANALYSIS 

I. EVIDENTIARY RULINGS

A. Pretrial Identification

Donaldson argues that Brown’s pretrial identification of him in the photo montage was

obtained through an impermissibly suggestive procedure that was not reliable under the totality of 

the circumstances. The State responds that Donaldson failed to preserve this claim for review 

because he did not move to suppress the results of the photo montage below. And it argues that 

there is not a sufficient record to determine whether the identification procedure was impermissibly 

suggestive. We agree with Donaldson that there is a sufficient record for us to review his challenge 

to Brown’s identifications, and we agree that the photo montage was impermissibly suggestive, 

but we hold that Brown’s identifications were nevertheless reliable under the totality of the 

circumstances. 

We may review an issue raised for the first time on appeal if it suggests a manifest error 

affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a)(3). Donaldson objected to the admission of the photo 

montage below, although he did not challenge the identification’s suggestibility and lack of 

reliability. But defense counsel cross-examined Brown about the reliability of her identification, 

and once the montage was admitted, Donaldson cross-examined the lead detective about the 

suggestibility of the montage, developing a record relevant to these issues. And the due process 

clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution requires the exclusion of 

identifications that were “obtained by an unnecessarily suggestive police procedure” and that lack 

“reliability under the totality of circumstances.” State v. Derri, 199 Wn.2d 658, 673, 511 P.3d 1267 
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(2022). Because Donaldson raises an issue that implicates a constitutional right, we evaluate the 

merits to determine whether any constitutional error was manifest. 

We first examine whether the “police-administered identification procedure was 

unnecessarily suggestive.” Id. at 674. If the procedure was suggestive, we then “must consider 

whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the unnecessarily suggestive procedure created ‘a 

very substantial likelihood of irreparable misidentification.’” Id. (internal quotation marks 

omitted) (quoting Manson v. Brathwaite, 432 U.S. 98, 116, 97 S. Ct. 2243, 53 L. Ed. 2d 140 

(1977)). 

1. Suggestiveness of identification procedure

Donaldson first argues that the photo montage procedure was impermissibly suggestive. 

He contends that his photo was the only one in the montage that matched Brown’s earlier 

descriptions to police of a Black man with dreadlocks. And he asserts that, because the detectives 

administering the montage knew Donaldson was a suspect, the lack of a double-blind procedure 

further impacted the montage’s suggestibility. We agree that having only one person in the 

montage with a distinctive hairstyle that matched the witness’s earlier descriptions rendered the 

montage impermissibly suggestive. 

A photo montage is impermissibly suggestive if it “directs undue attention to a particular 

photo.” State v. Eacret, 94 Wn. App. 282, 283, 971 P.2d 109 (1999). Generally, a photo montage 

will be impermissibly suggestive “when the defendant is the only possible choice given the 

witness’s earlier description.” State v. Ramires, 109 Wn. App. 749, 761, 37 P.3d 343 (2002). For 

example, courts have found montages impermissibly suggestive when witnesses described 

distinctive characteristics and the defendants were the only people in the montages with those 
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characteristics. Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 678. See State v. Kinard, 109 Wn. App. 428, 431, 433, 36 

P.3d 573 (2001) (defendant only person in photo montage with tooth gap); State v. Burrell, 28 Wn.

App. 606, 611, 625 P.2d 726 (1981) (defendant only person in photo montage with “frizzy Afro” 

hairstyle). 

Here, Donaldson was the “only possible choice” in the photo montage after Brown’s 

preliminary descriptions to police of a light-skinned Black man with shoulder-length dreadlocks. 

Ramires, 109 Wn. App. at 761. Other witnesses described a shooter with braids, but Brown only 

ever described dreadlocks to police. And the lack of a double-blind procedure was another factor 

weighing in favor of suggestiveness.6 We hold that the montage was impermissibly suggestive. 

We must then examine the reliability of Brown’s identification under the totality of the 

circumstances. Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 673. 

2. Reliability of identification

Donaldson argues the identification was unreliable because the shooting happened quickly 

and at night, Brown was injured during the shooting, and she initially did not identify the shooter 

from the montage. He also reasons that Brown received cowitness suggestion when her friends 

showed Brown the Facebook video of Donaldson at the bar that same night. And he asserts that 

the EMDR therapy Brown underwent before trial potentially created false memories. We disagree. 

The State argues that “Donaldson did not develop [a clear record on] whether there was 

any cowitness suggestion” from Brown’s viewing of the Facebook video, so “[t]he lack of a record 

6 The lack of a double-blind montage without more will not necessarily render a procedure 

suggestive. See Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 685. 
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prevents review.” Br. of Resp’t at 53-54. But counsel cross-examined the detectives and Brown 

about the reliability of her identification, developing a sufficient record.7  

Courts use several factors in assessing the reliability of an identification. Neil v. Biggers, 

409 U.S. 188, 93 S. Ct. 375, 34 L. Ed. 2d 401 (1972). We consider the witness’s opportunity to 

view the defendant at the time of the crime, the witness’s degree of attention, the accuracy of the 

witness’s descriptions, the level of certainty demonstrated at the procedure, and the length of time 

between the crime and the identification. Derri, 199 Wn.2d at 674. We also consider other 

variables that can affect reliability, such as cowitness suggestion. Id. at 689. Where the 

identification’s “‘aspects of reliability’ are ‘outweighed by the corrupting effect’ of law 

enforcement suggestion, the identification should be suppressed.” Id. at 674-75 (quoting 

Brathwaite, 432 U.S. at 116). 

In Derri, the Washington Supreme Court held that three bank employee witnesses’ 

identifications of a robber were reliable despite a suggestive police procedure tainted by “the 

failure to employ a double-blind procedure, multiple exposures to the same suspect, and use of a 

single suspect showup.” Id. at 685. First, two of the three witnesses interacted with the robber 

several weeks before the crime and told police they recognized him from that interaction. Id. at 

686. Despite the stress of witnessing the robbery, “the witnesses were all able to provide a detailed

7 To establish Brown’s prior opportunity to view Donaldson, the State asserts, without citation to 

the record, that “Brown and [another witness] . . . contacted Donaldson in the night club in a 

moment of levity. He had been throwing dollar bills in the air, and [the other witness] had asked 

if he could move so that she could retrieve a bill under his foot.” Br. of Resp’t at 45. There is no 

evidence of this in the record. The other witness testified that she retrieved a dollar that had been 

thrown in the air, but she did not testify that she spoke to anyone from the money-throwing group, 

and she did not observe the shooting or ever attempt to identify a shooter. And neither Brown nor 

the other witness testified that they ever spoke to or otherwise contacted Donaldson inside the bar. 
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description of the robber’s appearance, including facial features, height, clothing, and voice, and 

no witness reported a visible weapon.” Id. at 687. And two of the witnesses identified the robber 

within a day of the crime, while the third identified him nine days after the robbery. Id. at 689. The 

Derri court assigned limited weight to the fact that all three witnesses described the robber with 

characteristics that were consistent with the defendant’s appearance and to the witnesses’ high 

level of certainty in their identifications. Id. at 687-88. Overall, the Supreme Court held that the 

corrupting effect of the suggestive procedure did not “outweigh the additional indicia of reliability 

present with regard to each witness.” Id. at 690. 

Donaldson drew Brown’s attention earlier in the night inside the bar because his group was 

throwing money in the air. She gave police consistent and accurate descriptions of Donaldson three 

times within a few hours of the shooting, before she saw the Facebook video. She consistently 

described the shooter as a light-skinned Black man with dreadlocks pulled into a ponytail, wearing 

a grille in his mouth and a black hoodie. Brown’s descriptions were consistent with those other 

witnesses gave.  

Brown also told police that she recognized Donaldson from the group throwing money 

inside the club before she saw the Facebook video. She identified Donaldson in the Facebook 

video for police in addition to identifying him in the photo montage. And a defense witness 

testified that Donaldson was the only person in his group with dreadlocks. Additionally, Brown 

identified Donaldson from the photo montage three days after the shooting. Her primary concern 

with his photo in the montage was a difference in skin tone between the person she observed in 

the bar and parking lot versus his driver’s license photo, which a detective noted was a common 

concern in montages of driver’s license photos.  
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Given Brown’s opportunity to view the man who would be the shooter before the crime at 

a time when she was not experiencing stress, as well as the consistency and accuracy of her 

description before viewing the Facebook video, and her identification of Donaldson as one of the 

people throwing money in the bar and then her identification in the Facebook video separate from 

the photo montage, we conclude that her identification was reliable under the totality of the 

circumstances. The fact that Brown later underwent therapy that may have affected her memory 

does not affect the reliability of her pretherapy identifications. 

Although the photo montage was impermissibly suggestive because Donaldson was the 

only person in the montage with dreadlocks, we hold that Brown’s identification was sufficiently 

reliable under the totality of the circumstances. Thus, the admission of the montage identification 

was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right that requires reversal. 

B. PRP Regarding Brown’s In-Court Identification

In addition to the pretrial identification, Brown also identified Donaldson as the shooter in

the courtroom at Donaldson’s third trial. When testifying that she also remembered Wilson firing 

a gun, Brown said for the first time that her memory had been affected by undergoing EMDR 

therapy in the months after the shooting. Donaldson then moved for a one month continuance to 

research EMDR therapy and its effects on Brown’s testimony, which the trial court denied. The 

trial court also denied a request to recess for the remainder of the morning so defense counsel could 

“study up” on EMDR. 12 VRP at 1196.  

In his PRP, Donaldson argues the trial court abused its discretion by denying his first 

motion for a month-long continuance and his second motion for a morning recess. Even though “it 

is undisputed” that “Brown made several statements to police regarding the shooting before [she 
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started] EMDR therapy,” Donaldson contends that the therapy impacted Brown’s trial testimony 

and in-court identification of Donaldson. PRP at 24. He insists that this denied him his right to due 

process, right to present a defense, right to confront and cross-examine Brown’s therapist, and 

right to effective assistance of counsel.  

Donaldson compares EMDR therapy to hypnosis and reasons that the trial court should 

have excluded “‘testimony dependent upon memory that has been enhanced or recovered through 

EMDR’” until it could determine the reliability of the testimony under the totality of the 

circumstances. PRP at 32 (quoting United States v. D.W.B., 74 M.J. 630, 642 (N-M. Ct. Crim. 

App. 2015) (case from the Navy-Marine Court of Criminal Appeals addressing the admissibility 

of memories recovered through EMDR therapy). Donaldson asserts that the failure to do so 

“denied him a chance to investigate the surprise testimony about memory distorting therapy of the 

State’s key witness.” Appellant’s Consol. Reply Br. at 28. Donaldson contends that we must 

remand for an evidentiary hearing to determine whether he was prejudiced by the lack of evidence 

that EMDR therapy can create false memories. PRP at 26-29. “To the extent” that his expert “lacks 

necessary details to fully assess the reliability of Brown’s testimony, so did the trial court.” 

Appellant’s Consol. Reply Br. at 30.  

Even assuming the trial court should have granted a recess to allow Donaldson’s counsel 

time to prepare for cross-examination in light of Brown’s discussion of EMDR therapy on direct, 

this error was not prejudicial. We otherwise disagree with Donaldson’s arguments in his PRP. 

A personal restraint petitioner claiming constitutional error must demonstrate that they 

were actually and substantially prejudiced as a result of that error. In re Pers. Restraint of 

Swagerty, 186 Wn.2d 801, 807, 383 P.3d 454 (2016). To demonstrate actual and substantial 
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prejudice, the petitioner must show that the outcome of the proceeding “would more likely than 

not have been different had the error not occurred.” State v. Buckman, 190 Wn.2d 51, 60, 409 P.3d 

193 (2018). 

The parties cite no Washington case that has addressed the admissibility of testimony 

potentially affected by EMDR therapy. And there is not consistent caselaw on the closest analogy, 

testimony about facts recalled during hypnosis. The Ninth Circuit has long held that hypnotically 

refreshed memories are admissible. United States v. Awkard, 597 F.2d 667, 669 (9th Cir. 1979) 

(“The fact of hypnosis, if disclosed to the jury, may affect the credibility of evidence, but not its 

admissibility.”). In contrast, Washington has barred the admission of testimony “concerning 

information recalled while under hypnosis,” although testimony about “facts recalled prior to 

hypnosis” remains admissible. State v. Martin, 101 Wn.2d 713, 722, 684 P.2d 651 (1984). 

The military case Donaldson relies on lists multiple factors to consider in assessing the 

reliability of post-EMDR testimony, including whether the procedure was “used as a criminal 

investigative aid, intended to recover memories, or . . . a therapeutic procedure. There is a greater 

danger of suggestibility in the former two, while there is a lesser danger in the last.” D.W.B., 74 

M.J. at 643. Courts also consider “[w]hether independent corroborating evidence exists to support

the reliability of the recovered memories.” Id. The remaining factors address the qualifications of 

the therapist, suggestive circumstances of the therapy, and evidence about the reliability of the 

procedure. Id. 

First, even assuming without deciding that Brown created false memories during her 

EMDR therapy, the affected memories were primarily related to whether Wilson was a shooter. 

Donaldson asserts that the change in Brown’s memories affected the defense’s theory that there 
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was only one shooter: Wilson. But the record shows that Brown identified two shooters to police 

at the hospital shortly after the shooting and months before she underwent EMDR therapy. Brown 

described a “possibly Hispanic male” right next to Foster, and then a Black male “who ran up 

behind later” with dreadlocks and a gold grille. 9 VRP at 862-63. To the extent that the EMDR 

therapy may have affected Brown’s memory, Brown repeatedly described a shooter who ran 

towards the fight, and she identified Donaldson as that shooter before she underwent the therapy. 

She never wavered in her assertions to police that the person who ran up on the fight, later 

identified as Donaldson, shot at her husband. The sole inconsistency between her accounts pre and 

post therapy was whether or not she remembered Wilson pulling out and firing a gun. 

Additionally, Brown’s testimony was consistent with her descriptions of Donaldson’s 

appearance and actions that she gave immediately after the shooting, and independent 

corroborating evidence from other witnesses supports her identification. See D.W.B., 74 M.J. at 

643. A friend who described Donaldson the night of the shooting also testified that Donaldson was

the shooter, and there was testimony that Percell had previously identified Donaldson as the 

shooter, although he was unable to do so at the time of trial. Donaldson was the only person in his 

group with identifiable dreadlocks, and a witness who knew him testified that he ran towards the 

fistfight immediately before the shooting. Finally, the therapy was therapeutic, a factor the D.W.B. 

court considered to be relevant. Id. Thus, Donaldson has not shown that Brown’s in-court 

identification of Donaldson was made unreliable by her EMDR therapy.  

Even assuming that the trial court erred by denying the recess to prepare for cross 

examination in light of Brown’s new testimony about her EMDR therapy, Donaldson cannot show 

prejudice. As explained above, Brown did not waver in her statements that the person who ran up 
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on the fight shot at her husband. Brown’s pre-EMDR statements and identifications of Donaldson 

were admissible, and she described two shooters to police the night of the shooting. Donaldson’s 

expert has not said that the EMDR therapy Brown received actually affected her testimony, and 

Donaldson cannot show a substantial probability that he would have been acquitted without 

Brown’s in-court identification. Donaldson primarily argued below that it was prejudicial that 

Brown identified two shooters after undergoing EMDR therapy, but there was already objective 

evidence of two shooters in addition to Brown’s pre-EMDR recollection of two shooters. 

Surveillance video showed muzzle flashes associated with two different people, two types of shell 

casings were recovered from the scene, witnesses reported hearing two guns firing, and different 

witnesses described one shooter who matched Wilson’s description and one who matched 

Donaldson. Therefore, any error in denying the motions for a continuance or recess was harmless. 

Because Donaldson cannot show actual and substantial prejudice arising from the alleged error, 

we deny Donaldson’s PRP. 

C. Music Videos

Donaldson next argues that the trial court abused its discretion by admitting videos and still

images from music videos that he appeared in.8 The images in question were offered to show that 

Donaldson associated with Wilson, sometimes wore a gold grille as described by Brown, and had 

access to a Glock firearm that may have been used in the shooting. Donaldson argues that the 

images were irrelevant and that the images allowed speculation that the gun in the video was the 

murder weapon. He also contends that the State failed to offer evidence about when the videos 

8 Both parties state that the videos were admitted but it is unclear from our record when the videos 

were played for the jury. It is clear that the jury saw still images from the videos.  

APP A-25



No. 55942-1-II 

26 

were made. Thus, he contends that the images were prejudicial because the jury returned special 

verdicts finding that he was armed with a firearm. We disagree. 

First, the State argues defense counsel’s motion to admit an entire video under the rule of 

completeness to show the jury the disclaimer at the end asserting that the guns were all props 

precludes Donaldson from now arguing the video or stills from it should not have been admitted. 

But Donaldson sought admission of the entire video only after the trial court decided to admit the 

still images showing a gun. The fact that defense counsel made a fallback argument that the 

disclaimer should be provided to the jury along with parts of the video under the rule of 

completeness, did not amount to waiver or invited error.  

Next, Donaldson does not specify which rule of evidence the still images should have been 

excluded under. He appears to argue based on ER 403, which provides, “Although relevant, 

evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair 

prejudice.” “‘When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational 

decision, a danger of unfair prejudice exists.’” State v. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 97, 120, 265 P.3d 863 

(2011) (quoting State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)). “We review a trial 

court’s balancing of probative value against prejudice for abuse of discretion.” State v. Kennealy, 

151 Wn. App. 861, 890, 214 P.3d 200 (2009). A trial court abuses its discretion when its decision 

is manifestly unreasonable, based on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons. State v. Barry, 

184 Wn. App. 790, 802, 339 P.3d 200 (2014). “‘Nonconstitutional error requires reversal only if, 

within reasonable probabilities, it materially affected the outcome of the trial.’” Beadle, 173 Wn.2d 

at 120-21 (quoting State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 94, 882 P.2d 747 (1994)). 
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Donaldson contends that “Washington does not tolerate sheer speculation when it comes 

to murder weapons.” Am. Opening Br. of Appellant at 100. He relies on a Division One case 

holding that a trial court erred by admitting an expert witness’s conclusion that gasoline used to 

start a fire probably came from a gas can found in the defendant’s car. State v. Huynh, 49 Wn. 

App. 192, 198, 742 P.2d 160 (1987). Division One held that the expert’s analysis technique was 

not generally accepted by the scientific community, so the testimony was unreliable and irrelevant 

and should have been excluded. Id.  

Here, the admitted images from the rap videos were all relevant. First, images of Wilson 

and Donaldson together were admissible to show a relationship when the State’s theory of the case 

involved accomplice liability. The State’s theory of the case was that Donaldson entered the fight 

to defend Wilson. Evidence that Wilson and Donaldson had a preexisting relationship where they 

appeared in each other’s music videos was thus probative of whether Donaldson would have aided 

Wilson in a fight. The fact that the images were still images from a rap music video is not by itself 

unduly prejudicial. Similarly, images of Donaldson wearing a grille were relevant because Brown 

repeatedly described the shooter as wearing a grille.  

An expert testified that she could not tell if the guns in the music video stills were real or 

props. She stated that the gun Donaldson held in the video was visually consistent with a Glock, 

and a Glock likely was one of the weapons used to kill Foster. But the jury heard the expert testify 

that she was not certain the gun in the video was real, something that the jury could consider when 

weighing the evidence. And even if the images with the Glock were irrelevant, there is no 

reasonable probability that their admission materially affected the trial’s outcome. Even without 

the images of Donaldson holding a gun, there was direct and circumstantial evidence that 
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Donaldson was one of the shooters. Surveillance video showed, and witnesses reported, at least 

two shooters. Three witnesses directly identified Donaldson as a shooter at various points. And 

other witnesses described a shooter who matched Donaldson’s appearance. Thus, Donaldson 

cannot show a reasonable probability that the admission of the video stills materially affected the 

outcome of his trial. Beadle, 173 Wn.2d at 120-21. 

We hold that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting the videos and still 

images, and even if it did, any error was harmless. 

II. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT

A. Statements Donaldson Made During His Arrest

Donaldson argues that the prosecutor violated his right to remain silent by commenting on

statements he made when he was arrested. He asserts that the prosecutor invited the jury to infer 

that Donaldson was guilty because he did not claim innocence. Although Donaldson “does not 

contest the admissibility of the statement he made to police when he was arrested,” he argues that 

the prosecutor violated his right to remain silent by “contrasting his conduct and [postarrest] 

silence to that of a hypothetical innocent person” and emphasizing Donaldson’s “failure to testify 

to explain his statements.” Appellant’s Consol. Reply Br. at 2. We disagree. 

Donaldson did not object to the prosecutor’s comments during closing. When a defendant 

fails to object, they waive a prosecutorial misconduct claim unless they show that the comments 

were improper as well as flagrant and ill intentioned, that a curative instruction would not have 

remedied any prejudice, and that there is a substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the jury’s 

verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). We “‘focus less on whether 

the prosecutor’s misconduct was flagrant or ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting 
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prejudice could have been cured.’” State v. Gouley, 19 Wn. App. 2d 185, 201, 494 P.3d 458 (2021) 

(quoting Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 762), review denied, 198 Wn.2d 1041, 502 P.3d 854 (2022). 

Both the state and federal constitutions guarantee criminal defendants the right to remain 

silent. U.S. CONST. amend. V; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 9; State v. Earls, 116 Wn.2d 364, 374-75, 

805 P.2d 211 (1991). Thus, the State cannot use a defendant’s silence as substantive evidence of 

guilt. State v. Lewis, 130 Wn.2d 700, 705, 927 P.2d 235 (1996). But a prosecutor “has wide latitude 

to argue reasonable inferences from the evidence” in closing argument. State v. Thorgerson, 172 

Wn.2d 438, 448, 258 P.3d 43 (2011). We review the prosecutor’s arguments “‘in the context of 

the total argument, the issues in the case, the evidence addressed in the argument, and the 

instructions given.’” State v. Thierry, 190 Wn. App. 680, 689, 360 P.3d 940 (2015) (quoting 

Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85-86). Donaldson has not challenged the trial court’s findings or 

conclusions admitting his statements under CrR 3.5, so those findings are verities on appeal. State 

v. Gasteazoro-Paniagua, 173 Wn. App. 751, 755, 294 P.3d 857 (2013).

Donaldson’s argument rests on his assertion that the State commented on his right to 

remain silent when it noted that he failed to claim innocence in statements made during his arrest. 

He relies on cases addressing pre- and postarrest silence, or cases where a defendant’s statements 

were used to attack their silence. See Doyle v. Ohio, 426 U.S. 610, 619, 96 S. Ct. 2240, 49 L. Ed. 

2d 91 (1976) (prosecutor improperly impeached the defendant’s exculpatory story at trial with his 

silence during his arrest); State v. Burke, 163 Wn.2d 204, 222, 181 P.3d 1 (2008) (prosecutor 

improperly commented on the defendant’s prearrest silence when the defendant terminated a 

police interview); State v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 512, 755 P.2d 174 (1988) (prosecutor 

improperly used the defendant’s later statement to comment on “his failure to make a statement 
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immediately upon arrest”); State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 396, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) (prosecutor 

improperly drew attention to the defendant’s silence when arrested); State v. Pinson, 183 Wn. App. 

411, 418-19, 333 P.3d 528 (2014) (prosecutor improperly used defendant’s silence during a 

custodial interrogation as evidence of guilt). None of those cases addresses commentary on 

statements that were admitted under CrR 3.5. 

Here, the trial court admitted Donaldson’s statements during his arrest under CrR 3.5, 

finding that the statements “were spontaneous, made voluntarily, and were not the product of 

questions or interrogation.” CP at 739. An officer then testified that when Donaldson was arrested 

he said, “‘You’ve got your prize. Let’s go,’” and then without prompting added, “‘Okay. I’m 30. 

I’ve done everything I wanted to do.’” 13 VRP at 1415. In closing, the prosecutor repeated 

Donaldson’s statements, noting that Donaldson’s response to being arrested was “not something 

like ‘you’ve got the wrong guy,’” and was “nothing like you would expect from someone who 

didn’t do it” but was instead “one of absolute defiance and just indifference, talking about how the 

officers got their prize.” 23 VRP at 2938. The prosecutor then highlighted Donaldson’s statement, 

“‘I’m 30. I did everything I wanted to do in my life,’” pointing out that Donaldson was “being 

arrested for murder. . . . for gunning down a 22-year-old. . . . It’s really a callous statement because 

[Foster] didn’t get to do everything in his life that he wants to do. . . . These are not the words of 

someone who didn’t do it.” 23 VRP at 2938-39. In rebuttal argument, the prosecutor commented 

that defense counsel “didn’t have one way of explaining away his client’s statements when he was 

arrested.” 23 VRP at 2976. 

Prosecutors have wide latitude to comment on the evidence in closing argument. 

Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 448. The prosecutor in this case repeated the admitted statements and 
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emphasized the context of the statements. The prosecutor did not use the statements to draw 

attention to or otherwise comment on Donaldson’s later exercise of his right to silence. Donaldson 

has not cited any case holding that a prosecutor is prohibited from commenting on statements 

admitted under CrR 3.5. And the prosecutor never implied that Donaldson should have testified to 

explain his statements; he only drew attention to defense counsel’s failure to justify the statements 

in closing. We hold that there was no improper comment on silence. 

Donaldson also contends that the prosecutor inflamed the jury’s passion and prejudice by 

characterizing Donaldson’s statements as callous and mentioning Foster’s young age. Prosecutors 

overstep their latitude in closing argument if they argue facts that are not in the record or 

improperly appeal to the passions and prejudices of the jury. State v. Pierce, 169 Wn. App. 533, 

553, 280 P.3d 1158 (2012). But a “‘prosecutor is not muted because the acts committed arouse 

natural indignation.’” State v. Borboa, 157 Wn.2d 108, 123, 135 P.3d 469 (2006) (quoting State v. 

Fleetwood, 75 Wn.2d 80, 84, 448 P.2d 502 (1968)). In Fleetwood, a prosecutor did not commit 

misconduct by emphasizing that a robbery defendant beat an 87-year-old victim. 75 Wn.2d at 84. 

It is permissible for a prosecutor to note the age of a murder victim and acknowledge the fact that 

their life ended early. We hold that the comments were not improper. 

B. Argument about Accomplice Liability

Next, Donaldson argues that the prosecutor misstated the law of accomplice liability in

closing argument. He relies on the fact that this court reversed Wilson’s convictions because the 

prosecutor from the first trial repeatedly misstated the law of accomplice liability in that trial. 

Donaldson reasons that the prosecutor in his separate third trial made the same incorrect assertions, 

requiring reversal.  
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Specifically, Donaldson implies that the jury could have convicted him for the simple act 

of approaching the fight between Wilson and Foster. Donaldson asserts that there was “remarkably 

weak” evidence that he was a shooter. Am. Opening Br. of Appellant at 62. Thus, he reasons that 

“[t]here is no way of knowing whether the jury convicted Donaldson because they thought he was 

a shooter; or because he was simply an accomplice to Wilson, who was a shooter; or because he 

was an accomplice to someone else,” because no special verdict form “required the jury to indicate 

which of these factual scenarios it found.” Id. We disagree. 

A prosecutor “commits misconduct by misstating the law.” State v. Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 

373, 341 P.3d 268 (2015). “A person is an accomplice of another person in the commission of a 

crime if . . . [w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime,” that 

person “[a]ids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or committing” the crime. RCW 

9A.08.020(3)(a), (ii) (emphasis added). A person acts “with knowledge” when they are aware of 

“a fact, facts, or circumstances,” or have “information which would lead a reasonable person in 

the same situation to believe that facts exist.” RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(i), (ii).  

The prosecutor in the joint first trial repeatedly misstated the law of accomplice liability, 

asserting that “Wilson and Donaldson had ‘a shared mission, whether or not they realized it.’” 

State v. Wilson, No. 54241-2, slip op. at 19 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 21, 2021). Defense counsel 

objected to that statement in that trial Id. The prosecutor also stated that when each defendant 

decided “‘independently . . . to go after’ Foster,” they had a “‘shared mission,’ simply because 

they went after the same person.” Id. This improperly ignored the requirement that the person must 

act with knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the relevant crime in order to be an accomplice. 

Id. 
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As a preliminary matter, Donaldson asserts that our holding in Wilson is “the law of the 

case,” even though Wilson was convicted in a different trial than Donaldson and the prosecutor’s 

statement of the law differed between the two trials. Am. Opening Br. of Appellant at 57. “The 

law of the case doctrine provides that once there is an appellate court ruling, its holding must be 

followed in all of the subsequent stages of the same litigation.” State v. Schwab, 163 Wn.2d 664, 

672, 185 P.3d 1151 (2008).  

But the prosecutor’s explanation of the law in Donaldson’s separate third trial, was 

different from his explanation in the first trial. Here, the prosecutor explained that accomplice 

liability is triggered “when you knowingly assist someone in the commission of a crime.” 23 VRP 

at 2906-07. “[Y]ou are responsible, not only for your actions, but you’re responsible legally for 

the actions of the person you are assisting.” 23 VRP at 2907. Thus, “when the defendant runs up 

to provide aid to Marshall Wilson, the defendant is not only responsible for his gun and his bullets; 

he’s responsible for Marshall Wilson’s gun and Marshall Wilson’s bullets as well.” Id.  

Here, the prosecutor did not say that Wilson and Donaldson could be accomplices “whether 

or not they realized” they had a “shared mission.” See Wilson, slip op. at 19. Defense counsel did 

not object to the prosecutor’s explanation in this case. And counsel did not object to the 

prosecutor’s later comment, “Regardless of whose bullet it was that killed [Foster], you are 

responsible, not only for your bullets, but of those of your accomplices.” 23 VRP at 2942. 

Because defense counsel did not object, Donaldson must show that the comments were 

improper, flagrant, ill intentioned, and prejudicial. Emery, 174 Wn.2d at 760-61. We focus on 

whether any possible prejudice could have been remedied by a curative instruction. Gouley, 19 

Wn. App. 2d at 201.  
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A person is an accomplice to a crime if, “[w]ith knowledge that it will promote or facilitate 

the commission of the crime,” they aid another person in planning or committing the crime. RCW 

9A.08.020(3)(a), (ii). (emphasis added). Although the prosecutor here said “a crime” rather than 

“the crime,” the prosecutor did not mischaracterize the nature of accomplice liability as they did 

in the first trial. Here, the prosecutor asserted that Donaldson “[ran] up to provide aid” to Wilson 

by firing a gun at Foster. 23 VRP at 2907. Donaldson ran toward the fight and began shooting, and 

it was reasonable to infer he was doing so to aid Wilson as his friend. Thus, in context, the 

prosecutor’s statement of the law was not so inaccurate or misleading that an instruction would 

not have cured any resulting confusion. 

Additionally, the jury instructions properly stated the law of accomplice liability, and a 

jury is presumed to follow the court’s instructions unless “the record reflects that the jury 

considered an improper statement to be a proper statement of the law.” Allen, 182 Wn.2d at 380. 

There is no evidence that the jury considered an improper statement of the law. We should hold 

that, in context, the prosecutor did not commit reversible misconduct while explaining the law of 

accomplice liability. 

Donaldson also argues that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the 

alleged prosecutorial misconduct in closing arguments. If a prosecutor’s arguments are not 

improper, then defense counsel’s failure to object does not constitute ineffective assistance. State 

v. Larios-Lopez, 156 Wn. App. 257, 262, 233 P.3d 899 (2010). As discussed above, we hold that,

in context, the prosecutor’s arguments for the most part were not improper. A failure to object 

when the prosecutor referred to “a crime” rather than “the crime,” without more, is not enough to 
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warrant reversal where the jury instructions were clear. Therefore, counsel did not render 

ineffective assistance by failing to object. 

Finally, Donaldson argues that an accumulation of errors prejudiced him and require a new 

trial under the cumulative error doctrine. Here, there was no error, so the cumulative error doctrine 

does not apply. 

III. SAG

A. Prosecutorial Misconduct

In his SAG, Donaldson argues that the State’s opening and closing arguments misstated

the evidence and argued facts not in the record. He asserts that Percell, who was expected to 

identify Donaldson as the shooter, failed to do so in his testimony. He also emphasizes that the 

murder weapon was never recovered and that it is not clear whether Donaldson or Wilson fired the 

shot that killed Foster. None of Donaldson’s prosecutorial misconduct arguments merit reversal. 

We grant prosecutors “‘latitude to argue the facts in evidence and reasonable inferences’” 

from those facts in opening and closing arguments. State v. Dhaliwal, 150 Wn.2d 559, 577, 79 

P.3d 432 (2003) (quoting State v. Smith, 104 Wn.2d 497, 510, 707 P.2d 1306 (1985)). “But a

prosecutor commits reversible misconduct by urging the jury to decide a case based on evidence 

outside the record.” Pierce, 169 Wn. App. at 553.  

Here, the State presented evidence that Percell had at one point identified Donaldson as 

one of the shooters, although he was unable to do so by the time of Donaldson’s third trial, which 

took place three and a half years after the shooting. And the State argued a theory of accomplice 

liability because Foster died from multiple gunshot wounds. The State presented evidence that 

shell casings fired from two different weapons were recovered from the scene, surveillance video 
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showed muzzle flashes from two different weapons, and several witnesses identified Donaldson 

as one of the shooters. Donaldson does not show that the prosecutor urged the jury to convict based 

on evidence outside the record. 

B. Right to Confrontation

Donaldson also asserts that his right to confrontation was violated when the trial court

found a witness unavailable and allowed her prior testimony to be read into the record. We 

disagree. 

ER 804(b)(1) provides that the hearsay rule does not exclude the prior testimony of an 

unavailable witness from “another hearing of the same or a different proceeding . . . if the party 

against whom the testimony is now offered . . . had an opportunity and similar motive to develop 

the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.” A witness is unavailable if they are “absent 

from the hearing and the proponent of the statement has been unable to procure the declarant’s 

attendance . . . by process or other reasonable means.” ER 804(a)(5). 

Here, the witness testified at Donaldson’s first trial and was cross-examined by defense 

counsel, who remained Donaldson’s lawyer at his third trial. The witness then refused to cooperate 

with the State to appear for the third trial. The trial court found the witness unavailable under ER 

804(a) when the State explained that she refused to travel to attend trial and refused to 

communicate with the State. Donaldson does not show how the trial court erred in finding the 

witness unavailable when the State repeatedly tried to contact her and procure her appearance, 

including arranging a plane ticket. And Donaldson does not establish that his defense counsel 

lacked the opportunity or motive to develop the witness’s testimony on cross-examination in the 

first trial. Donaldson’s right to confrontation challenge fails. 
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CONCLUSION 

We affirm Donaldson’s convictions and deny his PRP. 

A majority of the panel having determined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 

2.06.040, it is so ordered. 

Glasgow, C.J. 

We concur: 

Lee, J. 

Veljacic, J. 
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I, HENRY OTGAAR, do hereby declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the

State of Washington, that the following facts are true and correct:

1. I am a Professor of Legal Psychology at the Faculty of Psychology and

Neuroscience, Maastricht University in the  Netherlands.  I am also employed as  a

Research Professor work at the Faculty of Law and Criminology at KU Leuven,

Belgium.  I have personal knowledge of the facts set forth here.

2. I have received the following degrees and professional certifications. I have obtained

a PhD (Cum Laude) in Psychology

3. I am a member of the Dutch Expert group on Special Sexual Abuse cases that is

coordinated by the Dutch National Police. This group provides advice to the public

prosecutor in legal cases concerning, for example, recovered memories of abuse and

therapy-induced false memories. Also, I am a member of the Committee of Exam

and Advice for the Dutch National Police that screens whether expert witnesses can

be included in an expert witness database than can be used in police investigations.
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4. My scientific research mainly concentrates on memory processes and their

relevance in court. Specifically, I have published numerous articles on which factors

might adversely affect the reliability of children’s and adults’ testimonies and which

interview methods should be used to maximize accurate reporting. Of importance

for this report is that I have extensively published on how therapies such as Eye

Movement Desensitization and Reprocessing Therapy (EMDR) affects memory.

5. In connection with the above-entitled Donaldson case, I have reviewed the

following materials:

a. Trial testimony of witness Olivia Brown.

b. Trial Testimony of Officer O’Connor Cockle.

c. Trial Testimony of Officer Anna Brahs.

d. Trial Testimony of Detective William Muse.

e. Trial Testimony of Detective Joshua McKenzie.

f. Trial Testimony of Detective Stuart Hoisington.

g. Trial Testimony of Detective Vicki Chittick.

h. Trial Testimony of Detective Bryan Vold.

i. Trial testimony of Detective Bryce Clother.

6. I have been asked to explain to the Court the concerns arise when a person who has

undergone EMDR testifies as a witness in a legal proceeding about the traumatizing

event that prompted the witness to receive EMDR therapy.

EMDR Therapy and the Purpose of the Therapy

7. The purpose of EMDR therapy is to reduce the vividness and emotionality of

traumatic memories (Examples – including this case – Brown witnessed the death

of her husband who was shot and killed just a few feet where Brown was standing,

and Brown was also struck in the thumb by a bullet in her thumb).

8. Here is how EMDR therapy is conducted.
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9. During EMDR, a patient is asked to retrieve the most disturbing trauma memory

and while doing so, perform saccadic eye movements that can be induced, for

example, by the therapist moving his/her index finger in front of the patient’s visual

field.

10. Specifically, EMDR contains several phases. In general, in the first three phases, the

patient is screened, and a treatment plan is created. Therapists will inform patients

about, for example, symptoms indicative of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD)

and will inform patients about the treatment. Then, therapists and patients identify

a specific target image (also called “hot spot”) of the traumatic experience. This hot

spot is an image that is most distressing and disturbing for the patient and will be

used throughout the intervention.

11. Following this, a negative cognition connected to this hot spot is identified. The idea

is that this negative cognition drives the distress related to the traumatic memory (de

Jongh & ten Broeke, 2016). Four main cognitions can be targeted. First,

responsibility and guilt occur when a patient feels guilty that, for example, he or she

did not do enough at the time of the trauma to prevent the event. Second, the

cognition control refers to a feeling of helplessness or powerlessness. Third, the

cognition self-esteem is related to a strong but incorrect, negative belief about

oneself (e.g., “I am not worth it”, “I am stupid”). Fourth, the cognition safety refers

to situations when he/she feels threatened. There are certain prerequisites for the

negative cognition. That is, the negative cognition has to be: (i) about the patient as

a person; (ii) dysfunctional; (iii) related to the target image; (iv) valid (i.e., the

cognition is formed in present tense); (v) emotionally laden (de Jongh & ten Broeke,

2016).

12. After the negative cognition is formulated, the goal is to call upon a positive

cognition. The positive cognition is the aim of the treatment. A positive cognition
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should be (i) from the same cognition as the negative cognition; (ii) empowering;

(iii) realistic and accessible; (iv) valid (i.e., not changing the facts of the

trauma/rewriting history); (v) about the patient; (vi) without denials and references

to the negative cognition. An example of a positive cognitions is: “I am worth it”

etc.

13. In the following phases, the desensitization and reprocessing of the target image

occur. During these phases, the patient is requested to retrieve the target image and

has to perform horizontal eye movements. The therapist initiates these eye

movements by moving his/her index finger horizontally in front of the patient’s

visual field. This means that the patient has to undergo a dual task, because (s)he

needs to recall a target image and simultaneously perform eye movements. This

procedure is repeated until the distress that is evoked by the hot spot is reduced to

zero.

14. Following this procedure, the therapist aims to induce a positive cognition. During

this reprocessing phase, the patient has to perform the dual task once more. Finally,

a body scan is completed in which patient is instructed to recall the hot spot and the

positive cognition and to scan the body from head to toe. This body scan aims to

expose any remaining bodily sensations. Finally, an evaluation of the EMDR

therapy will occur (e.g., What is the most positive thing you have learned about

yourself?”). The purpose of this final phase is to develop a positive state of mind

when leaving the treatment setting.

15. The community of clinical psychologists generally accept the fact that EMDR

provides positive therapeutic effects in that it reduces the vividness and emotionality

of traumatic memories.

16. The theoretical explanation for why EDMR has these positive therapeutic effects is

the following. According to the working memory account (Andrade, Kavanagh, &
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Baddeley, 1997; Gunter & Bodner, 2008; van den Hout & Engelhard, 2012)

retrieving a traumatic memory while simultaneously performing eye movements is

a dual task that requires working memory capacity. Because working memory

capacity is limited, performing this dual task interferes with the retrieval of

traumatic memories. The consequence is that traumatic memories become less vivid

and emotionally negative, an effect called imagination deflation (van den Hout &

Engelhard, 2012)

Effects of EMDR on Memory

17. Research has shown the following results concerning the memory effects of EMDR.

First, it has been shown that eye movements as applied in EMDR reduce the

vividness and emotionality of traumatic memories thereby affecting the quality of

memories (Houben et al., 2021).

18. Second, recent individual studies have also shown that eye movements as used in

EMDR can increase the creation of (spontaneous) memory errors (Houben et al.,

2020; Otgaar et al., 2021).

19. Cognitive psychologists agree that EMDR can have distorting effects on the

accuracy of the patient’s memory of a traumatizing event (Kenchel et al., 2020)

20. If the patient is expected to give testimony regarding the traumatizing event in the

future, then having EMDR before that testimony is not advisable because EMDR

may undermine memory and thus testimony given may be inaccurate.

21. The theoretical explanation for why EMDR sometimes creates false memories is as

follows: Performing eye movements and retrieving a traumatic memory is a dual

task which would lead to divided attention. Dividing attention can make people

focus on the general theme of memories which can boost false memory creation

(Brainerd et al., 2008).
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22. I have personally conducted research on human subjects to ascertain whether EMDR

creates false memories, and under what conditions false memories are likely to be

created.  The following is a description of the experiments that I and other colleagues

have conducted, and the results of those experiments.

23. Research in how eye movements can impact memory (retrieval) can be broadly

divided in two main research lines. One has focused on the link between eye

movements and memory quality, while the second concentrated on eye movements

and memory quantity. In the first line, the procedure is as follows. Participants are

instructed to retrieve an emotional autobiographical memory and rate the memory

on vividness and emotionality (pre-test). Following this, participants in the eye

movement condition are asked to retrieve these memories while simultaneously

performing eye movements, while participants in the control condition retrieve

memories without performing such eye movements. Following this, all participants

are asked to rate the vividness and emotionality of their memories again (post-test).

Retrieving an autobiographical memory and performing eye movements both

require working memory capacity. Due to its limited capacity, the working memory

account postulates that performing these two tasks simultaneously will result in

imagination deflation leading to less vivid (and emotional) memories (van den Hout

& Engelhard, 2012).

24. Eye Movements and Memory Quality. A multitude of studies have shown that eye

movements undermine the quality of emotional memories making them less vivid

and emotional (e.g., Houben et al., 2021). This is important for the legal arena and

more specifically, for (legal) psychologists providing expert witness testimony on

memory. Specifically, memory experts tasked with the responsibility to assess the

validity of testimonies concerning sexual abuse of patients undergoing EMDR

should consider that such testimonies may have been adversely affected by eye
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movements. This is also important for two reasons. First, testimonies containing

highly vivid and emotional details are more likely to be perceived as credible (e.g.,

Bell & Loftus, 1985; Kaufmann et al., 2003; Wessel et al., 2016). If memories

become less vivid and emotional due to eye movements, statements might be unduly

regarded as not credible. Second, although emotional memories are also susceptible

to distortion, negative emotion oftentimes enhance memory accuracy (Kensinger,

2007). Memories that become less emotional might also become less accurate or

perceived as less accurate which would undermine the reliability of testimonies.

25. Eye Movements, Memory Quantity, and False Memories. Considerable research

has examined the effect of eye movements on memory quantity during retrieval.

What these studies have examined is how eye movements affect memories for

experienced (accurate memories) and non-experienced (false memories) events.

26. An important issue is whether an eye movement intervention promotes the

production of false memories. In the context of the treatment of victims of traumas

caused by perpetrators, this question is imperative. Oftentimes, victims are not just

victims, but also eyewitnesses who provide evidence to the courts. Here, false

memories of eyewitnesses can lead to false accusations and contribute to wrongful

convictions. As to the cause of such false memories, an argument that has been made

frequently is that certain therapeutic interventions can be suggestive, thereby

increasing the susceptibility to create false memories (e.g., Loftus, 1994; Otgaar et

al., 2019, 2021).

27. Houben and colleagues (2018) examined whether eye movements might amplify the

formation of false memories using a procedure that mirrors with what happens in

EMDR sessions. Specifically, Houben and colleagues had students watch a video

depicting a car crash. After this, participants were asked to think about the video and

any emotions that they felt. Simultaneously, one half of the participants had to
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perform eye movements while control participants had to keep their eyes stationary.

Then, all participants received misinformation (i.e., false/suggestive information) in

the form of an eyewitness narrative. Misinformation was more often reported by

participants performing eye movements than participants in the control condition.

28. Several research labs failed to replicate this effect (Calvillo & Emami, 2019;

Kenchel et al., in press; van Schie & Leer, 2019). Therefore, Houben and colleagues

(2020) focused on false memories that are not evoked by external pressure. That is,

they examined the effect of eye movements on false memories using the

Deese/Roediger-McDermott (DRM) method (Deese, 1959; Roediger &

McDermott, 1995). In this method, participants have to learn word lists containing

words that are associatively related to each other (e.g., bed, tired, dream, etc). When

participants have to recall/recognize which words they have experienced, a

significant proportion of participants falsely remember a related non-presented word

called the critical lure (i.e., sleep). These false memories are also called spontaneous

false memories as they are automatically produced without any external (suggestive)

pressure (Brainerd et al., 2008).

29. In two experiments, Houben et al. found that after 48 hours, eye movements led to

an increase in spontaneous false memory levels. Of relevance is the finding that not

immediately, but after a delay (i.e., one day later), eye movements increased false

memory rates. The fact that these memory errors occurred after a delay is especially

significant as EMDR is oftentimes not immediately provided after an experience,

and often takes place after a certain delay. Relatedly, eyewitnesses are also not

immediately interviewed after a crime by for example the police. Such interviewing

oftentimes happens after a delay and in the meantime, they might undergo EMDR.
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30. Taken together, based on research on eye movements and false memories, we can

conclude as Kenchel et al. (in press) stated that eye movements “seem to increase

spontaneous false memories” (p.1).

31. I have testified in legal proceedings both in the Netherlands and in the United States

regarding the effects of EMDR and therapy on the accuracy of patients’ memory.

32. If I had been contacted before Mr. Donaldson’s trial had started, I would have been

willing to testify at his trial to the matters that I have set forth in this declaration.

33. At the present, I do not have enough information to be able to form an opinion as to

whether or not Ms. Brown’s receipt of EMDR actually did cause the creation of any

false memories such that her testimony regarding her husband’s death was

inaccurate.

34. At present, however, I can say that Ms. Brown’s own assessment that her memory

changed after she started receiving EMDR is consistent with the possibility that her

memory of the event was changed and distorted so as to include some false

information as a result of the EMDR.  To report that there was only one shooter and

later to recall that in fact there were two shooters is unusual and since the recovered

memory coincides with the receipt of EMDR therapy, there is a distinct possibility

that her memory was corrupted and that the later two-shooter memory is false.

35. The defense attorney told the trial judge, “My idea is that there is one shooter, and

it’s the other guy, and he’s already been convicted. That’s my theory of the case.”

36. The trial judge responded, “That’s your theory.  The theory is not overblown.

What’s overblown is your business that this – this EMDR business.”   However,

based on the scientific research on eye movements and memory, the defense

attorney’s theory about “this EMDR business” was not “overblown.”

37. I would need more information before I could form a professional opinion that

EMDR did, or did not, create false memories in this case.  It is possible that the
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necessary information simply is not available.  However, assuming that her therapist

took and kept reasonably complete therapy notes during the therapy sessions, it is

possible that I might be able to form a better judgment that false memories were

created in this case.  With the information I presently have, however, I can only say

that it is possible that they were.

38. If additional information is obtained regarding her EMDR therapy, I am willing to

review it to see whether it enables me to give a more definite opinion.

DATED this 10th day of June, 2022.

Henry Otgaar, Professor of Legal Psychology

Maastricht University, Faculty of Psychology and

Neuroscience
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of

Washington that I am an employee at Carney Badley Spellman, P.S., over the age of 18 years,

not a party to nor interested in the above-entitled action, and competent to be a witness herein.

On the date stated below, I caused to be served a true and correct copy of the foregoing

document on the below-listed attorney(s) of record by the method(s) noted:

ESERVICE to the following:

Attorneys for Respondent

Robin Sand

Kristie Barham

PIERCE COUNTY PROSECUTING ATTORNEY'S OFFICE

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946

Tacoma, WA  98402-2171

Robin.sand@piercecountywa.gov

kristie.barham@piercecountywa.gov

DATED this 17th day of June, 2022.

s/Deborah A. Groth

Deborah A. Groth, Legal Assistant
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Washington State Court of Appeals 
Division Two 

909 A Street, Suite 200, Tacoma, Washington  98402 

Derek Byrne, Clerk/Administrator     (253) 593-2970     (253) 593-2806 (Fax)

General Orders, Calendar Dates, and General Information at http://www.courts.wa.gov/courts OFFICE HOURS: 9-12, 1-4.

August 8, 2022 

Teresa Jeanne Chen        James Elliot Lobsenz 

Attorney at Law Carney Badley Spellman 

930 Tacoma Ave S Rm 946 701 5th Ave Ste 3600 

Tacoma, WA 98402-2102 Seattle, WA 98104-7010 

teresa.chen@piercecountywa.gov          lobsenz@carneylaw.com 

Prosecuting Attorney Pierce County      

Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney 

930 Tacoma Avenue S. Room 946

Tacoma, WA 98402        

pcpatcecf@piercecountywa.gov

CASE #: 55942-1-IIState of Washington, Respondent v Randy L. Donaldson, Appellant 

Counsel: 

On the above date, this court entered the following notation ruling: 

A RULING BY COMMISSIONER BEARSE: 

Appellant initially moved to stay his direct appeal, No. 55942-1-II, pending the trial court’s 

ruling on a CrR 7.8 motion that he filed in the superior court. The superior court has 

transferred the CrR 7.8 motion to this court for consideration as a personal restraint petition 

under CrR 7.8(c)(2), and appellant now states that his motion to stay is moot. He now moves 

to consolidate his direct appeal, No. 55942-1-II with his personal restraint petition, No. 

57102-1-II. 

     The court agrees that the motion to stay is moot, thus the motion to stay the appeal is 

denied. Appellant’s motion to consolidate the appeal and the petition is granted. All future 

communications should refer to the direct appeal case number, No. 55942-1-II. Respondent 

may file a single response addressing both the appeal and the petition, and appellant may file 

a single reply. 

     Appellant also requests that this court set the due date for the opening brief in the appeal 

to September 8, 2022. This motion is granted. The due date for the opening appellate brief is 

now September 8, 2022. The remainder of the briefing should comply with the schedule set 

out in the July 21, 2021 perfection letter. 

Very truly yours, 

Derek M. Byrne 

Court Clerk 
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CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN

February 16, 2024 - 10:17 AM

Filing Petition for Review

Transmittal Information

Filed with Court: Supreme Court
Appellate Court Case Number:   Case Initiation
Appellate Court Case Title: State of Washington, Respondent v Randy L. Donaldson, Appellant (559421)

The following documents have been uploaded:

PRV_Petition_for_Review_20240216101350SC553481_4774.pdf 
    This File Contains: 
     Petition for Review 
     The Original File Name was Petition for Review.pdf

A copy of the uploaded files will be sent to:

PCpatcecf@piercecountywa.gov
pcpatcecf@piercecountywa.gov
teresa.chen@piercecountywa.gov

Comments:

Sender Name: Deborah Groth - Email: groth@carneylaw.com 
    Filing on Behalf of: James Elliot Lobsenz - Email: lobsenz@carneylaw.com (Alternate Email: )

Address: 
701 5th Ave, Suite 3600 
Seattle, WA, 98104 
Phone: (206) 622-8020 EXT 149

Note: The Filing Id is 20240216101350SC553481
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